Assessing Fertility Knowledge: Development and Validation of the Male and Female

Fertility Knowledge Inventories

School of Psychology University of Adelaide October 2018

Author Note

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the Honours Degree of Bachelor of

Psychology.

Word count: 8,990

Table of Contents

Table of Contentsii
List of Figures
List of Tablesvii
Abstractviii
Conference presentation based on the data from this thesisix
Declarationx
Acknowledgementsxi
Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1 Infertility and Involuntary Childlessness1
1.2 Psychological Burden of Infertility and Involuntary Childlessness2
1.3 The Role of Knowledge in Fertility Decision-Making
1.3.1 Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills (IMB) Model
1.4 Psychological Scale Development
1.4.1 Construct operationalisation
1.4.2 Item generation7
1.4.3 Theoretical analysis
1.4.4 Psychometric analysis
1.5 Current Use of Scales to Assess People's Understanding of Fertility9
1.6 Rationale for the Present Study21
1.6.1 Research Aims
1.6.2 Hypotheses
Chapter 2 Method
2.1 Participants

2.1.1 Expert evaluation.	24
2.1.2 Pilot study	24
2.1.3 Validation study	24
2.2 Materials	29
2.2.1 Demographic items.	29
2.2.2 Reproductive intentions.	29
2.2.3 Male and Female Fertility Knowledge Inventories (MFKI and FFKI)	29
2.2.4 Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire (SFAQ).	30
2.2.5 Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale (CFKS).	
2.2.6 Health Literacy Skills Instrument Short Form (HLSISF)	31
2.2.7 General Nutrition Knowledge Questionnaire (Revised) (GNKQR)	31
2.3 Procedure	32
2.3.1 Expert evaluation.	32
2.3.2 Pilot study	32
2.3.3 Validation study	33
2.4 Power Analysis	33
2.5 Analytical Approach	34
2.5.1 Stage 1 (expert evaluation) and stage 2 (pilot study)	36
2.5.2 Stage 3 (validation study).	
2.5.3 Stage 4 (validation study).	37
Chapter 3 Results	
3.1 Generation of Item Pool	

3.2 Content Validity Indexes (CVIs)
3.3 Item Analysis
3.4 Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA)65
3.5 Descriptive statistics
3.6 Internal consistency72
3.7 Validity testing73
3.7.1 Hypotheses 1 and 2: there will be a positive correlation between the MFKI and both
the SFAQ and CFKS75
3.7.2 Hypotheses 5 and 6: there will be a positive correlation between the FFKI and both
the SFAQ and CFKS75
3.7.3 Hypotheses 3 and 7: there will be a positive correlation between the MFKI and FFKI
respectively, and the HLSISF75
respectively, and the HLSISF75 3.7.4 Hypotheses 4 & 8: There will be no correlation between the MFKI and FFKI
respectively, and the HLSISF75 3.7.4 Hypotheses 4 & 8: There will be no correlation between the MFKI and FFKI respectively, and the GNKQR76
respectively, and the HLSISF75 3.7.4 Hypotheses 4 & 8: There will be no correlation between the MFKI and FFKI respectively, and the GNKQR76 Chapter 4 Discussion
respectively, and the HLSISF

	4.3 Demographic and Reproductive Characteristics	83
	4.4 Limitations	84
	4.5 Clinical Implications and Further Research	84
	4.6 Conclusion	85
R	eferences	87
A	opendices	99
	Appendix A	99
	Appendix B	. 101
	Appendix C	.102
	Appendix D	.104
	Appendix E	.106
	Appendix F	.124
	Appendix G	.126
	Appendix H	.128
	Appendix I	.131
	Appendix J	.134
	Appendix K	.138
	Appendix L	.139
	Appendix M	.140

List of Figures

Figure 1. Fertility rates between 1979 and 2009 in Australia, revealing the tendency for women
in the 2009 cohort to delay childbearing when compared to cohorts from 1979, 1989 and 1999.
1
Figure 2. The Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model, exploring information,
motivation and behavioural skills specific to involuntary childlessness and infertility5
Figure 3. Male and Female Fertility Knowledge Inventories scale development stages35
Figure 4. Scree plot of the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory by Principal Axis Factoring.
<i>Figure 5</i> . Scree plot of the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory by Principal Axis Factoring.

List of Tables

Table 1. Search terms and Boolean (Logical) Operators used in the database searches9
Table 2. Summary of measures used to assess understanding of fertility in studies published
since 2000 in populations of people of or approaching reproductive age in the general
population10
Table 3. Demographic characteristics of pilot and validation study populations
Table 4. Reproductive characteristics of pilot and validation study populations
Table 5. Expert evaluation and pilot study Content Validity Indexes for each item in the Male
<i>Fertility Knowledge Inventory</i> 40
Table 6. Expert evaluation and pilot study Content Validity Indexes for each item in the
Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory
Table 7. Item analysis of the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory 59
Table 8. Item analysis of the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory
Table 9. Summary of exploratory factor analysis results for the Male Fertility Knowledge
Inventory in a sample of people of reproductive age
Table 10. Summary of exploratory factor analysis results for the Female Fertility Knowledge
Inventory in a sample of people of reproductive age70
Table 11. Means, standard deviations and reliability for all criterion measures
Table 12. Internal consistency for the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory and factors72
Table 13. Internal consistency for the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory and factors72
Table 14. Summary of correlations between the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory, its
factors and scales used for validity testing
Table 15. Summary of correlations between the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory, its
factors and scales used for validity testing

Abstract

Infertility and involuntary childlessness remain global public health issues. Previous research reveals poor understandings of fertility. Health behaviour change interventions, such as those based on the Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model, state that information is a prerequisite to health behaviour change, yet previous measurement of fertility knowledge is poor, with limitations in construct operationalisation, item generation, and theoretical and psychometric analysis. Moreover, scales do not differentiate between male and female infertility risks. This research aimed to develop two psychometrically sound scales specific to measuring knowledge about male and female fertility using Classical Test Theory and established scale development protocol. A three-stage approach was adopted, where analysis and refinement of scale items occurred sequentially in three groups including fertility health professionals (n=8), laypeople (n=13), and people of reproductive age (n=226). From the original 36 items in each item pool, following data analysis, results vielded a 14-item, three-factor solution for the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory (MFKI) and a 15-item, four-factor solution Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory (FFKI). The MFKI and FFKI had acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha = .78$, $\alpha =$.77, respectively) and partial support for concurrent validity. Convergent and divergent validity were not supported; future research should determine constructs that are appropriate to further validate these scales. While the scales may undergo further refinement in the future, their development allows researchers to measure knowledge of male and female fertility separately and to determine their importance in fertility decision-making. The scales may be used in clinical practice as screening tools to identify people at risk of infertility and involuntary childlessness.

Conference presentation based on the data from this thesis

Citation for the presentation listed below, for a copy of the submitted abstract please refer to Appendix A.

XXXX. (2018, July). What people of reproductive age know about male and female fertility: development and validation of the Male and Female Fertility Knowledge Measures. *The University of Adelaide Undergraduate Research Conference 2018*. Conference conducted at The University of Adelaide, South Australia, Australia.

Declaration

This work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any University, and, to the best of my knowledge, this thesis contains no material previously published except where due reference is made.

I give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the School to restrict access for a period of time.

October 2018

Acknowledgements

Many thanks to XXXX for being an unfailingly supportive supervisor. Many thanks to my mum, dad, brother and friends for listening to many hours of Honours chatter. Many thanks to John for your attention to detail.

To my grandpa, who would be sure to make a note of this.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Infertility and Involuntary Childlessness

In Australia, one in six couples experience fertility problems in their reproductive lifetime (ABS, 2009). While lifestyle factors including diet, weight and medical treatments are associated with infertility, the increased tendency of delayed childbearing also poses difficulties for couples hoping to have their first child in their early to late 30s, the timing of which coincides with age-related decline in male and female fertility (ABS, 2010) (Figure 1). Infertility and delayed childbearing can result in couples having less than their desired number of children, or being unable to have children altogether, an experience described as involuntary childlessness.



Figure 1. Fertility rates between 1979 and 2009 in Australia, revealing the tendency for women in the 2009 cohort to delay childbearing when compared to cohorts from 1979, 1989 and 1999. *Notes.* (a) indicates babies per 1,000 women; (b) includes births to mothers aged less than 15 years; (c) includes births to mothers aged 50 years and over (ABS, 2010).

Reasons for delayed childbearing in high income countries are diverse, with increased accessibility to education meaning that desires to advance in a professional career, establish financial stability and self-development often requisite to childbearing for both men and women (Abiodun, Alausa, & Olasehinde, 2016; Hammarberg et al., 2017; Mogilevkina, Stern, Melnik,

Getsko, & Tyden, 2016). However, people also have poor knowledge of their own fertility potential and overestimate their fertility. Daniluk and Koert (2012) found that over 40% of women rated themselves as being "fairly" or "very knowledgeable" about fertility, and 54% rated themselves as having at least some knowledge (p < .05). Similarly, Abiodun et al. (2016) identified that 51.7% of men and women perceived themselves as being "very educated" about fertility. However, both studies revealed a poor understanding of age-related fertility decline and the success of In Vitro Fertilisation (IVF). This replicates previous findings revealing poor knowledge of the effect of age, lifestyle choices, infertility treatments (Abiodun et al., 2016; Bretherick, Fairbrother, Avila, Harbord, & Robinson, 2010; Bunting & Boivin, 2008; Daumler, Chan, Lo, Takefman, & Zelkowitz, 2016; Lampic, Svanberg, Karlstrom, & Tyden, 2006; Swift & Liu, 2014), myths and misconceptions related to infertility (Bunting & Boivin, 2008; Daniluk & Koert, 2012). Consequently, delayed childbearing and poor understanding of fertility contributes to a discrepancy between people's ideal social and biological reproductive ages, leading to greater risk of infertility and involuntary childlessness.

1.2 Psychological Burden of Infertility and Involuntary Childlessness

The psychological burden associated with infertility and involuntary childlessness can be significant, and historically, disproportionately falls on women. In this sociocultural context, infertility or involuntary childlessness can lead to experiences of depression comparable to individuals with chronic disease, dissatisfaction with life, insecurity, inferiority and grief (Galhardo, Pinto-Gouveia, Cunha, & Matos, 2011; Gana & Jakubowska, 2016; Miles, Keitel, Jackson, Harris, & Licciardi, 2009; Peterson, Sejbaek, Pirritano, & Schmidt, 2014). Infertile and involuntarily childless men are also reported to have poorer subjective quality of life and self-esteem when compared to fathers (Klemetti, Raitanen, Sihvo, Saarni, & Koponen, 2010; Wischmann, Korge, Scherg, Strowitzi, & Verres, 2012). Therefore, such reproductive issues are

associated with significant psychological and financial burden, which has implications for the provision and costs of healthcare education and services.

1.3 The Role of Knowledge in Fertility Decision-Making

Many fertility issues are preventable, or at least modifiable, and therefore efforts to minimise a couple's risk of involuntary childlessness can be approached through behaviour change interventions. To date, the role of knowledge in fertility related decision-making is poorly understood. Some cross-sectional studies reveal no association between fertility understandings and childbearing intentions but are criticised for their atheoretical approach (Daniluk & Koert, 2015). Additionally, the multifactorial decision-making process related to career, education, financial security and health has been cited as a reason for failing to detect the contribution of fertility knowledge to childbearing behaviours (Maeda, Nakamura, Kobayashi, et al., 2016). Nevertheless, interventions aimed at increasing knowledge of childless men and women have been shown in the short-term to increase confidence in their own fertility and decrease intentions to delay childbearing (Daniluk & Koert, 2015; Williamson, Lawson, Downe, & Pierson, 2014). In the wider health literature, there is support for knowledge in predicting and promoting good health behaviour. For example, increasing knowledge of signs, symptoms and preventable causes of breast cancer can lead to reduced delay in help seeking and improved outcomes (Grunfeld, Hunter, Ramirez, & Richards, 2003). Acknowledging the value of knowledge in the wider health literature, that fertility decision-making remains relatively poorly understood, and evidence to suggest fertility knowledge plays a role in childbearing intentions and behaviour, there is merit in considering an approach to behaviour change that can improve people's fertility decision-making.

1.3.1 Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills (IMB) Model.

One approach to behaviour change and health promotion is the IMB Model, consisting of three stages: (1) elicitation of existing information, motivation and behavioural skills in a population, (2) implementation of an intervention designed to address the population's identified

3

deficits, and (3) evaluation of the intervention to determine sustained effects on the three determinants of the targeted health behaviour (Fisher, Fisher, & Harman, 2003). These determinants are explored within the context of involuntary childlessness and infertility in Figure 2. While knowledge in and of itself is not enough to enact behaviour change, it is an influential component in health decision-making and behaviour and reflects the multifactorial decisionmaking process of childbearing previously mentioned, making the IMB Model highly applicable to fertility behaviour. In this regard, there is significant need to accurately quantify people's understanding of fertility to determine what they know, and to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions that are designed to deliver appropriate information and improve people's understanding of fertility. Furthermore, scales that measure understandings of fertility must be developed and tested to ensure they accurately quantify people's knowledge.



Figure 2. The Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model, exploring information, motivation and behavioural skills specific to involuntary childlessness and infertility.

1.4 Psychological Scale Development

Scale development is conceptualised through two leading paradigms in psychology: Classical Test Theory (CTT) and Item Response Theory (IRT). Empirical studies have found comparable performance in scales developed using either paradigmatic approach (Courville, 2004; Fan, 1998), and adoption of either paradigm dictates the item and scale analyses that are used to determine final scale structure.

Exclusive to the paradigmatic approach, several authors agree that scale development is a complex and iterative process requiring methodological rigor that can be undertaken in three steps following construct operationalisation: (1) item generation, (2) theoretical analysis and (3) psychometric analysis (De Vellis, 2012; Nunnally, 1967).

1.4.1 Construct operationalisation.

At the very least, precise operationalisation should consist of a definition of the latent variable and should extend to a description of how the new construct relates to existing phenomena and their operationalisation (De Vellis, 2012). With regards to scale development, the specificity of a scale should also be defined, whether its intention be to measure a specific or global construct (De Vellis, 2012).

There are two constructs that are used to measure people's understanding of fertility in the literature: fertility awareness and fertility knowledge. The constructs are often used interchangeably, creating issues for scale use, interpretation and determination of the significance of research findings.

1.4.1.1 Fertility awareness

Fertility awareness is defined as a woman's understanding of the fertile period of the menstrual cycle (Hampton & Mazza, 2015). Educating couples about this period provides a relatively inexpensive and simple way to increase the chance of conception (Bunting & Boivin,

2008; Hampton & Mazza, 2015). However, the primary focus of fertility awareness education has been to provide females with information related to their menstrual cycle, but fails to provide further education to males seeking information about their own fertility or a couple's overall fertility potential.

1.4.1.2 Fertility knowledge

Previous literature has failed to formally define fertility knowledge, despite increasing usage of the term. There are few studies that have investigated components of fertility knowledge informed by a theoretical framework, exposing difficulties in precise and informed construct operationalisation. Bunting, Tsibulsky, and Boivin (2013) identify three areas of fertility knowledge that are most likely to affect fertility decision-making: (1) knowledge about indicators for reduced fertility (e.g., smoking and weight), (2) misconceptions about fertility, and (3) basic facts about infertility. In light of these known factors, and reflecting the IMB model conceptualisation of information as both specific facts and relevant heuristics, fertility knowledge is hereby defined as one's level of understanding about both male and female fertility decline with age, risk factors for infertility, misconceptions about fertility and a basic awareness of infertility treatment.

1.4.2 Item generation.

Development of an initial item pool can be achieved using inductive methods, through literature review and pre-existing scale content, deductive methods, through qualitative information obtained from the target population, or a combined approach (Hinkin, 1995). Parameters relevant to the entire scale include length, format and instructions, while item parameters include consideration to simple, clear, specific and unbiased structure (Morgado, Meireles, Neves, Amaral, & Ferreira, 2018).

1.4.3 Theoretical analysis.

Theoretical analysis must be undertaken to assess content validity of the new scale; the extent to which content material relevant to the desired construct is sampled in the item pool (Morgado et al., 2018). To ensure content validity, expert judges or members of the intended respondent population evaluate proposed items for construct representativeness (Rubio, Berg-Weger, Tebb, Lee, & Rauch, 2003). Content validity may be qualitative, that is, feedback provided for each item or the entire scale, or quantitative, that is, mathematically quantified as a Content Validity Index (CVI) addressing item relevance and clarity (Polit & Beck, 2006).

1.4.4 Psychometric analysis.

Validity and reliability testing are used to refine the item pool until a scale that best measures the intended construct is devised. Preliminary item analyses are undertaken to determine parameters of each item in a validation sample, including tests of item difficulty, discrimination and item-to-total correlation (De Vellis, 2012). Further, entire scale analyses are conducted, comprising testing of construct validity through exploratory factor analysis (EFA), complemented by other forms of validity testing which may include concurrent, convergent, divergent and predictive validity (De Vellis, 2012). Psychometric testing also comprises reliability testing, including internal consistency, test-retest and split-half reliability. While more rigorous testing can lead to a higher quality scale, psychometric testing is not an isolated process where every test must be administered to fulfil validity and reliability. Instead, psychometric testing should be an iterative process, where further psychometric testing ensures a valid and reliable scale continues to be reflective of its intended population (Chan, 2014). Nevertheless, scale development should focus on item and scale evaluation to provide reasonable evidence of initial psychometric strength.

1.5 Current Use of Scales to Assess People's Understanding of Fertility

Numerous scales are employed to measure people's understanding of fertility in diverse adult populations of, or approaching, reproductive age. Existing scales assess knowledge of agerelated fertility decline, risk factors for infertility, misconceptions about fertility and infertility treatments. Some have been evaluated for their psychometric properties and have revealed differences in knowledge according to gender, age and previous experience of fertility issues. A literature review was conducted based on the combination of search terms provided in Table 1 (see Appendix B for specific logic grids) to identify previous scale development methods. A summary of findings is provided in Table 2.

Table 1

Search terms and Boolean (Logical) Operators used in the database searches

AND L	
Understandings of fertility	Measurement
Fertility knowledge	Scale
Fertility awareness	Inventory
	Questionnaire
	Measure
	Survey
	Instrument
	Checklist
	Schedule
	Understandings of fertility Fertility knowledge Fertility awareness

Notes. Search terms included stated terms in both singular and plural forms.

Table 2

Summary of measures used to assess understanding of fertility in studies published since 2000 in populations of people of or approaching

reproductive age in the general population

Author, year	Country	Scale (n = items)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
Abiodun et al.	Nigeria	SFAQ (9)			
(2016)	Cross-sectional, 389	Fertility awareness			
	participants (231 female,	(F)			
	158 male)				
Almeida-Santos,	Portugal	Study specific (24)			
Melo, Macedo,	Cross-sectional, 2404	Fertility knowledge			
and Moura-	participants (1596 female,	(detail not provided)			
Ramos (2017)	808 male)				
Bodin et al.	Sweden	Study specific (5)	Inductive (pre-	Qualitative	
(2017)	Cross-sectional, 796 male	Fertility knowledge	existing scale	(experienced	
	participants	(M & F)	content)	clinicians)	
Boivin et al.	Wales	Modified CFKS (15)			
(2018)		Fertility knowledge			
		(M & F)			

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
	Intervention, 208				
	participants (122 female,				
	86 male)				
Bunting et al.	79 countries	CFKS (13)	Inductive (pre-		Exploratory factor
(2013)	Cross-sectional, 10,045	Fertility knowledge	existing scale		analysis (1 factor
	participants (8,355	(M & F)	content, literature		structure, 30%
	female, 1,690 male)		review)		explained
					variance)
					Internal
					consistency ($\alpha =$
					.79)
Chan, Chan,	Hong Kong	SFAQ (9)			
Peterson, Lampic,	Cross-sectional, 367	Fertility Awareness			
and Tam (2015)	participants (275 female,	(F)			
	92 male)				
Conceicao, Pedro,	Portugal	Study specific (37)	Inductive (pre-		
and Martins	Intervention, 173	Fertility knowledge	existing scale		
(2017)	participants (140 female,	(M & F)	content)		
	33 male)				

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
Daniluk and	Canada	FAS-M (modified			Factor analysis
Koert (2013)	Cross-sectional, 599 male	FAS) (20)			(failed to
	participants	Fertility knowledge			converge)
		(M & F)			Internal
					consistency ($\alpha =$
					.74)
Daniluk and	Canada	Fertility Awareness			
Koert (2015)	Intervention, 199	Survey (FAS) (16)			
	participants (151 female,	Fertility knowledge			
	48 male)	(M & F)			
Daumler et al.	Canada	Study specific (4)	Inductive		
(2016)	Cross-sectional, 701 male	Fertility knowledge	(systematic review)		
	participants	(M)	Deductive (two		
			male infertility		
			specialists)		
Fulford, Bunting,	38 countries (including	CFKS (13)			Internal
Tsibulsky, and	Japan, Russia, India,	Fertility knowledge			consistency ($\alpha =$
Boivin (2013)	China)	(M & F)			.74)

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
	Cross-sectional, 1345				
	female participants				
Garcia, Vassena,	Spain	Study specific (10)	Inductive (pre-		
Prat, and	Intervention, 201 female	Fertility knowledge	existing scale		
Vernaeve (2016)	participants	and awareness (F)	content)		
Hampton, Mazza,	Australia	Study specific (3)	Inductive (pre-	Pilot study (6	Inter-rater
and Newton	Cross-sectional, 204	Fertility awareness	existing scale	female	reliability
(2013)	female participants	(F)	content)	participants)	(Cohen's Kappa
					= .82)
Hampton and	Australia	Modified Hampton et		Pilot study (30	Inter-rater
Mazza (2015)	Cross-sectional, 328	al. (2013) (3)		female	reliability
	female participants	Fertility awareness		participants)	(Cohen's Kappa
		(F)			= .93)
Heywood, Pitts,	Australia	Study specific (13)			
Patrick, and	Cross-sectional, 1780	Fertility knowledge			
Mitchell (2016)	secondary school	(detail not provided)			
	participants (1,125				
	female, 655 male)				

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
Holton et al.	Australia	Study specific (3)	Inductive (pre-		
(2016)	Cross-sectional, 1,104	Fertility knowledge	existing scale		
	male participants	(M & F)	content)		
Kudesia,	United States of America	Fertility & Infertility	Inductive (pre-	Expert review	Item difficulty
Chernyak, and	Cross-sectional, 1,245	Treatment and	existing scale	(15 reproductive	(.56)
McAvey (2017)	participants	Knowledge Score	content, literature	endocrinologists)	Item
		(FIT-KS) (29)	review)	Pilot study (10	discrimination
		Fertility knowledge	Deductive (research	laypeople)	(.20)
		(F)	and clinical		Internal
			experience)		consistency
					Item consistency
					(.05)
					Divergent,
					convergent,
					discriminative
					validity
Lampic et al.	Sweden	SFAQ (9)	Deductive (research	Pilot study (50	Test-retest
(2006)		Fertility awareness	and clinical	student	reliability
		(F)	experience)	participants)	

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
	Cross-sectional, 401				
	participants (222 female,				
	179 male)				
Lucas, Rosario,	New Zealand	Study specific (3)	Inductive (pre-		
and Shelling	Cross-sectional, 683	Fertility awareness	existing scale		
(2015)	participants (453 female,	(F)	content)		
	226 male, 4 other)				
Maeda,	Japan	CFKS-J (13)			Factor analysis (1
Nakamura,	Cross-sectional, 640	Fertility knowledge			factor structure)
Boivin, et al.	participants (344 female,	(M & F)			Internal
(2016)	296 male)				consistency ($\alpha =$
					.72)
					Moderate point
					biserial
					correlation (Item
					1 = .53)
Maeda,	Japan	CFKS-J (13)			
Nakamura,		Fertility knowledge			
		(M & F)			

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
Kobayashi, et al.	Intervention, 1,455				
(2016)	participants (729 female,				
	726 male)				
Maeda et al.	Japan	CFKS-J (13)	Forward and back-		Internal
(2015)	Intervention, 1455	Fertility knowledge	translation		consistency $\alpha =$
	participants (729 female,	(M & F)			.74,.72)
	726 male)				Factor analysis (1
					factor structure)
					Biserial
					correlations (.36
					to .55)
Meissner,	Germany	SFAQ (9)	Inductive (pre-		
Schippert, and	Cross-sectional, 1,144	Fertility awareness	existing scale		
von Versen-	(881 female, 263 male)	(F)	content, systematic		
Hoynck (2016)			review)		
Mortensen,	Denmark	SFAQ (9)			
Hegaard,	Cross-sectional, 863	Fertility knowledge			
Andersen, and	female participants	(F)			
Bentzen (2012)					

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
Mu (2017)	United States of America	Study specific (MU-			Internal
	Cross sectional, 342	fertility knowledge			consistency
	female participants	assessment scale)			(Kuder
		(26)			Richardson
		Fertility knowledge			coefficient = .74)
		(F)			Known groups
					validity
					Exploratory factor
					analysis
Na Nakhon,	Thailand	Study specific (8)	Inductive (pre-	Quantitative	Internal
Limvorapitux,	Cross-sectional, 401	Fertility knowledge	existing scale	(Item-Objective	consistency ($\alpha =$
and	participants (233 female,	(M & F)	content)	Congruence	.70)
Vichinsartvichai	168 male)			score 0.5)	
(2018)				Pilot study (20	
				laypeople)	
Nouri et al.	Austria	Study specific (21)	Inductive (pre-	Pilot study ($n =$	
(2014)	Cross-sectional, 340	Fertility awareness	existing scale	30)	
	participants (170 female,	(M & F)	content)		
	170 male)				

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
Peterson,	United States of America	SFAQ (9)			
Pirritano, Tucker,	Cross-sectional, 246	Fertility awareness			
and Lampic	participants (138 female,	(F)			
(2012)	108 male)				
Prior, Lew,	Australia	Study specific (length	Inductive (published		
Hammarberg, and	Cross-sectional, 1,215	not provided)	literature, pre-		
Johnson (2018)	participants (930 female,	Fertility knowledge	existing scale		
	285 male)	(M & F)	content)		
			Deductive (research		
			and clinical		
			experience)		
Righarts,	New Zealand	Study specific (3)			
Dickson, Parkin,	Cross-sectional, 1,034	Fertility knowledge			
and Gillett (2017)	female participants	(F)			
Swift and Liu	Canada	Study specific (22)			
(2014)	Cross-sectional, 140	Fertility awareness			
	female participants	(F)			

Author, year	Country	Scale (n = items)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
Sorensen et al.	Denmark	SFAQ (9)			
(2016)	Cross-sectional, 517	Fertility awareness			
	participants (438 female,	(F)			
	79 male)				
Ter Keurst,	UK	Study specific (6)	Inductive (pre-		
Boivin, and	Cross-sectional, 257	Fertility knowledge	existing scale		
Gameiro (2016)	female participants	(F)	content)		
Vassard,	UK & Denmark	Modified SFAQ (4)	Format modified		
Lallemant, Nyboe	Cross-sectional, 1,237	Fertility awareness			
Andersen,	participants (1,000	(F)			
Macklon, and	female, 237 male)				
Schmidt (2016)					
Vujcic,	Serbia	SFAQ (9)			
Radicevic,	Cross-sectional, 665	Fertility awareness			
Dubljanin,	participants (271 female,	(F)			
Maksimovic, and	147 male)				
Grujicic (2017)					
Williamson et al.	Canada	Study specific (4)			
(2014)					

Author, year	Country	Scale ($n = items$)	Item generation ^b	Theoretical	Psychometric
	Type of study, sample size	Construct		analysis ^c	analysis
		operationalisation			
		(male/female ^a)			
	Intervention, 69 female	Fertility knowledge			
	participants	(F)			
Wojcieszek and	Australia	Study specific (5)	Inductive		
Thompson (2013)	Intervention, 137	Fertility and	(systematic review)		
	participants	infertility knowledge			
		(F)			

Notes. ^a Whether the scale assessed knowledge about male (M) and/or female (F) fertility; ^b Whether the scale used inductive or deductive item generation; ^c Whether the scale used quantitative or qualitative theoretical analysis. CFKS = Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale; CFKS-J = Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale (Japanese translation); FAS = Fertility Awareness

Survey; FAS-M = Fertility Awareness Survey (for men); SFAQ = Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire.

The review identified three instruments designed to assess understanding of fertility across 37 studies: nine used the Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire (SFAQ), six used the Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale (CFKS) or its Japanese translation (CFKS-J), and three used the Fertility Awareness Survey (FAS) or its modified male version (FAS-M). All other studies used study-specific scales (19). The research aimed to elicit people's understanding of fertility using cross-sectional approaches, with the exception of eight intervention studies.

However, current literature is limited in the poor adherence to scale development paradigms and protocol. For example, the most frequently used scale, the SFAQ, provided no detail of item generation or evaluation in its original validation study, and subsequent studies failed to test the scale's psychometric properties to ensure enduring validity and reliability. Additionally, 14 scales measured understanding of both male and female fertility, 20 measured female fertility and only one measured male fertility.

1.6 Rationale for the Present Study

As infertility and involuntary childlessness remain global public health issues, improving people's understanding of their fertility provides a means to address preventable, or at least modifiable, infertility risks through health promotion interventions using the IMB Model. It is essential to measure this construct accurately, to benefit future development of educational programs and interventions that are designed to increase understanding of fertility. However, existing scales that are used most frequently in the media do not suitably address relevant content or achieve adequate psychometric standards. Study-specific measures, while perhaps designed to overcome shortcomings these, do not comprehensively address the limitations affecting existing scales and therefore are not suitable alternatives. While several study-specific scales show some evidence of scale development, all fail to provide comprehensive evidence of initial item generation and evaluation. The greatest limitation in the literature, however, is the absence of

21

comparable scales that measure factors specific to male and female fertility separately, without due consideration for specific factors that might affect one gender more significantly than the other; for example, the greater effects of age on female fertility.

To address these shortcomings, the research aims and hypotheses of this thesis are proposed to guide development of two scales that assess fertility knowledge, one for male fertility and one for female fertility, hereby referred to as the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory (MFKI) and the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory (FFKI). Additionally, this thesis aims to address limitations of previous scales in relation to item generation, theoretical and psychometric analysis, to produce two psychometrically sound scales. While understandings of fertility are measured by fertility knowledge or fertility awareness, for increased focus on male fertility, fertility knowledge will be the operationalised construct according to which the scales are developed.

1.6.1 Research Aims.

- To develop two separate item pools (one for male and one for female fertility knowledge) containing approximately twice the number of items of the intended scales;
- (2) To evaluate the items for content validity and amend or remove items accordingly in each pool;
- (3) To evaluate each item for its difficulty, discrimination and item-to-total correlation;
- (4) To conduct EFA to determine the underlying structure of the MFKI and FFKI and to determine items suitable for inclusion in the two final scales;
- (5) To evaluate the complete scales and their underlying structures for internal consistency.**1.6.2 Hypotheses.**

Eight hypotheses will be tested to assess scale validity:

- (1) There will be a positive correlation between the MFKI and the SFAQ;
- (2) There will be a positive correlation between the MFKI and the CFKS;

- (3) There will be a positive correlation between the MFKI and the Health Literacy Skills Instrument Short Form (HLSISF);
- (4) There will be no correlation between the MFKI and the General Nutrition Knowledge Questionnaire (Revised) (GNKQR);
- (5) There will be a positive correlation between the FFKI and the SFAQ;
- (6) There will be a positive correlation between the FFKI and the CFKS;
- (7) There will be a positive correlation between the FFKI and the HLSISF;
- (8) There will be no correlation between the FFKI and the GNKQR.

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF THE MFKI AND FFKI Chapter 2 Method

2.1 Participants

Participants were divided into three experimental groups: (1) infertility health professionals, (2) laypeople and (3) people of reproductive age. Infertility health professionals were eligible to participate if they were 18 years or older, had been employed in a specialist infertility service for a minimum of one year and spoke fluent English. Laypeople and people of reproductive age formed the pilot and validation study groups respectively, and were eligible if they were of reproductive age (18 to 51 years) and fluent in English.

2.1.1 Expert evaluation.

Eight female infertility health professionals participated (five embryologists, one Associate Professor, one Medical Doctor and one Laboratory Manager) aged 30 to 52 years (M = 41.9, SD = 8.9), with an average of 13.3 years of professional experience. Six cases were removed due to incomplete responses.

2.1.2 Pilot study.

Thirteen laypeople participated (eight female and five male), aged 18 to 29 years (M = 21.2, SD = 3.1). Data from one participant was excluded due to incomplete responses. Demographic characteristics and information regarding reproductive intentions can be found in Tables 3 and 4, respectively.

2.1.3 Validation study.

The sample consisted of 226 participants aged 18 to 51 years (M = 26.2, SD = 8.0). The response rate was 71%, with 92 incomplete responses excluded from analysis. Participants in the validation study who selected "gender not listed" were excluded from demographic analyses due to the small sample size (n = 2), however, were included for item and scale analyses.

Demographic and reproductive characteristics can be found in Tables 3 and 4, respectively.

	Pilot study		Validation study ^b	
Characteristics ^a	Male	Female	Male	Female
	(<i>n</i> =5)	(<i>n</i> =8)	(<i>n</i> =56)	(<i>n</i> =168)
Age, M (SD)	20.4 (2.1)	21.8 (3.6)	25.3 (7.2)	26.5 (8.3)
Country of birth				
Australia	3 (60)	8 (100)	46 (82)	133 (79)
China	1 (20)		2 (4)	4 (2)
India	1 (20)			2 (1)
UK			3 (5)	6 (4)
Other			4 (7)	21 (13)
Ethnic heritage				
African			1 (2)	
American			1 (2)	2 (1)
Asian	3 (60)	2 (25)	3 (5)	10 (6)
Australian	2 (40)	4 (50)	39 (70)	118 (70)
European		2 (25)	10 (18)	29 (17)
Indian			1 (2)	3 (2)
Indigenous Australian				2 (1)
Middle Eastern				2 (1)
Other				3 (2)
Relationship status				
Married/de facto/engaged		1 (13)	11 (20)	54 (32)
Separated/divorced				2 (1)
In a relationship	5 (100)	4 (50)	17 (30)	55 (33)
Single		3 (38)	27 (48)	57 (34)
Education				
High school	1 (20)	1 (13)	9 (16)	12 (7)
Apprenticeship/Certificate			3 (5)	10 (6)
Bachelor	3 (60)	6 (75)	26 (46)	88 (52)

Demographic characteristics of pilot and validation study populations
	Pilot	study	Validatio	on study ^b
Characteristics ^a	Male	Female	Male	Female
	(<i>n</i> =5)	(<i>n</i> =8)	(<i>n</i> =56)	(<i>n</i> =168)
Honours	1 (20)	1 (13)	10 (18)	17 (10)
Masters/PhD			5 (9)	36 (21)
Employment				
Full-time	1 (20)	2 (25)	18 (32)	48 (29)
Part-time	2 (40)	6 (75)	19 (34)	85 (51)
Unemployed	2 (40)		19 (34)	32 (19)

Notes. ^a Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise indicated; percentage values may add to greater than 100% due to rounding protocol; ^b Variations in sample size due to missing data.

Table 4

	Pilot S	Study ^b	Validation Study ^b		
Characteristics ^a	Male	Female	Male	Female	
	(<i>n</i> =5)	(<i>n</i> =8)	(<i>n</i> =56)	(<i>n</i> =168)	
Plans to have children					
Yes	5 (100)	7 (88)	32 (57)	132 (79)	
No		1 (13)	24 (43)	31 (18)	
Children desired, M (SD)	2.0 (0.7)	2.9 (1.0)	2.26 (0.7)	2.3 (0.7)	
Desired age at first child, M (SD)	29.0 (1.7)	29.0 (2.4)	29.6 (2.9)	28.7 (3.3)	
Desired age at last child, M (SD)	33.0 (2.6)	35.5 (1.9)	34.0 (2.9)	32.9 (3.6)	
Importance of having children					
Very important	1 (20)	2 (25)	16 (29)	61 (36)	
Important	3 (60)	2 (25)	7 (13)	44 (26)	
Moderately important		3 (38)	11 (20)	23 (14)	
Slightly important	1 (20)	1 (13)	2 (4)	12 (7)	
Not important			19 (34)	21 (13)	
Confidence in having children					
Very confident	1 (20)		14 (25)	31 (18)	
Confident		2 (25)	16 (29)	33 (20)	
Moderately confident	3 (60)	3 (38)	11 (20)	57 (34)	
Slightly confident	1 (20)	2 (25)	5 (9)	21 (13)	
Not confident			5 (9)	18 (11)	
Action if unable to conceive naturally					
Fertility treatment	3 (60)	6 (75)	27 (48)	97 (58)	
Foster a child			2 (4)	6 (4)	
Adopt a child	1 (20)	2 (25)	11 (20)	32 (19)	
Choose not to have a child			9 (16)	22 (13)	
Other	1 (20)				
Information sources ^c					
Books	2	1	23	60	

Reproductive characteristics of pilot and validation study populations

	Pilot	Study ^b	Validation Study ^b		
Characteristics ^a	Male	Female	Male	Female	
	(<i>n</i> =5)	(<i>n</i> =8)	(<i>n</i> =56)	(<i>n</i> =168)	
Magazines		2	5	25	
Brochures		1	6	26	
Newspapers			10	12	
Internet	4	5	42	123	
Radio			4	9	
Videos	1		10	21	
Television programs	1	3	24	49	
Public health centres		1	12	39	
Doctor	1	3	25	86	
Family members	3	2	24	80	
Friends	2	5	22	74	
Other			13	33	
Fertility knowledge self-rating					
Extremely educated				2(1)	
Very educated		1 (13)	2 (4)	14 (8)	
Educated		3 (38)	9 (16)	41 (24)	
Somewhat educated	4 (80)	3 (38)	32 (57)	95 (57)	
Not educated at all	1 (20)	1 (13)	12 (21)	16 (10)	
Previously sought fertility		1 (13)	2 (4)	18 (11)	
consultation					
Currently trying to conceive			1 (2)	5 (3)	
Currently pregnant				4 (2)	

Notes. ^a Data presented as n (%), unless otherwise indicated; percentage values may add to greater than 100% due to rounding protocol; ^b Variations in sample size due to missing data; ^c No percentage value as participants could select more than one option.

2.2 Materials

All surveys were hosted online on SurveyMonkey[™], and consisted of demographic and reproductive information, refined versions of the MFKI and FFKI, and scales specific to each participant group (Appendices C, D, E, F and G).

2.2.1 Demographic items.

Infertility health professionals were asked to answer four items which included age, gender, period employed within specialist infertility services and employment title. They could also indicate whether they wished to be contacted if the initial items were significantly amended. Pilot and validation study participants were asked seven demographic items about age, gender, country of birth, ethnic heritage, relationship status, level of education and employment status.

2.2.2 Reproductive intentions.

Pilot and validation study participants responded to four items on the intention to have children subscale, one item on the importance of having children subscale and one item on the behavioural intention in case of infertility subscale of the SFAQ (Lampic et al., 2006). Participants provided information regarding their sources of fertility information, previous infertility consultation, confidence achieving reproductive intentions and a self-rating of their fertility knowledge.

2.2.3 Male and Female Fertility Knowledge Inventories (MFKI and FFKI).

Participants in all groups completed revised versions of the MFKI and FFKI. The inventories addressed four areas that assessed fertility knowledge according to the operationalised definition of fertility knowledge in the current study and informed by previous literature (Bunting et al., 2013; Fisher et al., 2003): (1) age-related fertility decline, (2) risk factors for infertility, (3) common misconceptions, and (4) basic knowledge about infertility treatment. Items were created according to scale development conventions with consideration to wording, item format and response format (De Vellis, 2012). Participants in the validation study indicated their knowledge

29

about each item by responding "true", "false" or "I don't know", to avoid forced and unreliable answers, where one point was awarded for a correct answer, and zero points for an incorrect or "I don't know" answer (Converse & Presser, 1986). As the development and validation of these instruments is the subject of this thesis, psychometric detail will be provided in the Results section.

2.2.4 Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire (SFAQ).

Participants in the validation study completed the SFAQ, developed by Lampic et al. (2006), a 56-item self-report measure that assesses six areas of importance regarding fertility beliefs and behaviours. Participants provided responses to the nine-item awareness of fertility issues subscale. A correct answer is assigned one point, and an incorrect answer assigned zero points; higher scores reflect greater fertility awareness. Internal consistency of this subscale has not been tested. Test-retest reliability has been conducted, however, results are unpublished (Lampic et al., 2006). The scale has previously been used in male and female populations of reproductive age. In the current sample, the internal consistency was questionable (a = .19).

2.2.5 Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale (CFKS).

Participants in the validation study completed the CFKS, created by Bunting et al. (2013), a 13-item measure of fertility knowledge. Participants responded "true", "false" or "don't know", where a correct answer is assigned one point, and an incorrect or "don't know" answer is assigned zero points. The total score was converted into a percentage where a higher score indicated greater fertility knowledge. The original study included translation of the scale into 12 languages; with moderate (a = .79) and satisfactory internal consistency for most countries (n = 79), except Italy (a = .59) and Turkey (a = .41) (Bunting et al., 2013). All items load on one general factor that account for 30% of between-item variance (Bunting et al., 2013). The scale has been used in male and female adult populations of reproductive age. In the current sample, there was questionable internal consistency (a = .60).

2.2.6 Health Literacy Skills Instrument Short Form (HLSISF).

The HLSISF was completed by participants in the validation study and is a short-form measure of functional health literacy adapted from the original 25-item measure (McCormack et al., 2010). The HLSISF consists of 10 items designed to capture five components of health literacy (print-prose, print-document, print-quantitative, oral and Internet). One point is awarded for correct answers; higher scores indicate greater health literacy. The HLSISF correlates strongly with the original 25-item HLSI (.90, significance not reported), has acceptable internal consistency (a = .70) and suitable known-groups and divergent validity (Bann, McCormack, Berkman, & Squiers, 2012). In the current sample, there was acceptable internal consistency (a = .72).

2.2.7 General Nutrition Knowledge Questionnaire (Revised) (GNKQR).

The GNKQR is an 88-item, revised version of the GNKQ, developed by Parmenter and Wardle (1999) and adapted for use in Australian adult populations (Hendrie, Cox, & Coveney, 2008). Participants in the validation study responded to the items on three- and four-point Likert scales, and by multiple choice. One point is awarded for each correct response, and subscale scores are summed, where higher scores indicate greater nutrition knowledge. All four subscales demonstrate high internal consistency; knowledge of expert advice (a = .70), awareness of food groups (a = .86), food choices (a = .72) and health issues related to diet and weight management (a = .77) (Hendrie et al., 2008). The overall scale also demonstrates high internal consistency (a = .93), test-retest reliability and strong concurrent validity (Hendrie et al., 2008). In the current sample, there was good internal consistency (a = .88), while results on the four subscales revealed poor to good internal consistency (knowledge of expert advice a = .55, awareness of food groups a = .81, food choices a = .73, health issues related to diet and weight management a = .70).

2.3 Procedure

The study was approved by the University of Adelaide School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee on 7 May 2018, approval number 18/52. Participation was voluntary and all participants were provided with an information sheet and consent form (Appendices H, I and J) prior to commencement. Participants were provided with written instructions and scales specific to each experimental group. The procedure was conducted over a four-month period.

2.3.1 Expert evaluation.

Infertility health professionals were recruited from Australian fertility clinics and were contacted indirectly through an email addressed to their clinic informing them of the aims of the research and their role should they choose to participate. Each participant completed an online questionnaire, which took approximately 30 minutes and consisted of demographic questions and preliminary versions of the MFKI and FFKI comprising 36 items each. Participants rated each item on a four-point Likert scale for relevance (1 = Not relevant to 4 = Highly relevant) and clarity (1 = Item is not clear to 4 = Item is clear), based on Content Validity Index (CVI) calculation techniques (Rubio et al., 2003), indicated its medical accuracy (*Yes/No*), and rated the entire inventories for comprehensiveness (*open response*). One participant reviewed all revised items following significant amendments based on the suggestions of this group.

2.3.2 Pilot study.

Participants were recruited from the University of Adelaide's School of Psychology Research Participation System and received course credit. Each questionnaire took approximately 30 minutes to complete, consisting of the revised 31-item MFKI and FFKI. Participants rated each item for clarity on a four-point Likert scale (1 = Item is not clear to 4 = Item is clear) based on CVI calculation techniques (Rubio et al., 2003), and acceptability (*Yes/No* response) with the option of providing further comment. Participants also rated each of the overall inventories for their representativeness (*Yes/No*), and comprehensiveness (*open response*).

32

2.3.3 Validation study.

The validation study was a cross-sectional survey. Participants were recruited from the University of Adelaide's School of Psychology Research Participation System and received course credit, a post on the author's (XX), supervisor's (XX) and University of Adelaide Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences' Facebook pages, the Australian Psychological Society's website (Appendix K), and snowball sampling.

Each questionnaire took approximately 45 minutes to complete. The questionnaire consisted of the revised MFKI and FFKI comprising 31 items each, the GNKQR, HLSISF, CFKS and the SFAQ, and demographic questions for a total of 201 items. The item order of the MFKI and FFKI was randomised to control for order effects and inflated reliability (Goodhue & Loiacono, 2002; Wilson & Lankton, 2012). The MFKI and FFKI were placed at the start of the survey and separated from the SFAQ and the CFKS to ensure that participants would not answer fertility knowledge scales in succession.

2.4 Power Analysis

For exploratory factor analysis (EFA), attempts were made to undertake *a priori* power analysis. However, it has been argued that strict rules about sample size for EFA have mostly disappeared, and therefore many recommendations are based on rules of thumb (Costello & Osborne, 2005). Recommendations have included minimum sample sizes (between 200 and 500 participants) dependent on communalities and factor loadings, and participant-to-item ratios between 3 and 10 participants per item (Cattell, 1978; Everitt, 1975; Gorsuch, 1983). When Costello and Osborne (2005) reviewed EFA sample sizes published in a two-year period they found that most studies utilised participant-to-item ratios between 5:1 and 10:1, while many used participant-to-item ratios of only 2:1 or less. Further, Howard (2016) recommends accepting whichever is greater: a minimum sample size of 200 or a 5:1 ratio. The current study therefore required a minimum of 200 participants, as the 24-item MFKI required at least 120 participants to

33

be subject to EFA according to this ratio. This suggested that the current study had sufficient statistical power, as 226 participants were included in EFA.

2.5 Analytical Approach

Data was analysed using Excel Microsoft Office Professional Plus 2016 with the Real Statistics Resource Pack and SPSS Statistics Version 25. Analysis of the MFKI and FFKI occurred separately and sequentially, with item amendments from the expert evaluation (Stage 1) being presented to the pilot study (Stage 2) and so forth. Analyses were also organised into two stages for the validation study. Stage 3 involved refinement of the item pool, while Stage 4 involved validity and reliability analyses of each scale (Figure 3). Each stage was intended to select and refine items that most effectively measured fertility knowledge.



Figure 3. Male and Female Fertility Knowledge Inventories scale development stages.

2.5.1 Stage 1 (expert evaluation) and stage 2 (pilot study).

Content validity can be established through expert and layperson item evaluation (Grant & Davis, 1997). In the current study, item content validity was determined in two phases, the first being *a priori* domain analysis preceding item generation. Expert and layperson evaluation was then undertaken *a posteriori*, using CVIs to evaluate item relevance and clarity (Polit & Beck, 2006). Item CVIs (I-CVI) were calculated by dichotomising ratings on a four-point Likert scale. Rating criteria depends on the number of judges; .78 or greater represented good content validity in the current study (Polit & Beck, 2006). Scale CVIs (S-CVI) are calculated using two different methods, however the CVI (average) method is regarded as the best indicator of validity and was calculated in the current study, as alternative methods often underestimate scale validity (Polit & Beck, 2006).

Face validity is the extent to which a measure reflects what it is intended to measure, and is necessary, but not sufficient for ensuring construct validity (Nunnally & Bernstein, 1994). In the current study, face validity was measured using I-CVI for relevance and by the responses to item comprehensiveness for overall scale validity (Hardesty & Bearden, 2004).

2.5.2 Stage 3 (validation study).

Item difficulty (p) refers to the proportion of individuals who respond correctly to an individual item, denoted by the average respondent score. Items that scored between .4 and .6 were deemed acceptable, however scores outside this criterion may provide valuable information and thus could be considered for inclusion in the current study (Kline, 2005).

The index of discrimination (*D*) refers to an item's ability to discriminate between participants who are likely to obtain particularly high and low total scores on a scale. Higher indexes indicated greater discrimination and were calculated using the extreme groups method (Cureton, 1957). Items that scored between .4 and .6 were considered good, and within .1 of the

upper and lower bounds, reasonably good (Ebel & Frisbie, 1991). Items outside this range were subject to improvement if selected (Ebel & Frisbie, 1991).

Item-to-total correlations determine the relationship between an individual's response to an item and their corrected total score (Kline, 2005). Correlations less than .5 were considered moderate to strong and suitable for scale inclusion (Kline, 2005). As the 31-item MFKI and FFKI data represented a false dichotomy with an underlying continuous distribution, biserial correlations that do not assume a true dichotomy (unlike Pearson's biserial correlations) were required. The scales were examined for normality, including examination of the histogram, skewness, kurtosis and Shapiro-Wilk test. As the assumption of normality was violated, the required transformation was undertaken (Appendix L).

2.5.3 Stage 4 (validation study).

Prior to EFA, the Kaiser-Meyer Olsen (KMO) coefficient and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity were examined to determine suitability for analysis.

To determine scale validity, correlation coefficients were calculated. As Pearson's correlation coefficient assumes normality of data, all scales in the validation study and the 14item MFKI and 15-item FFKI were examined for normality as described previously. All variables were non-normally distributed and therefore the appropriate transformations were attempted. Even with transformation none achieved normality except the GNKQR, and therefore a non-parametric Spearman's correlation coefficient was calculated.

To demonstrate concurrent validity, the SFAQ and CFKS were selected, based on the relative frequency of use as existing scales (Table 2) and previous validity testing (Kudesia et al., 2017). To demonstrate convergent validity, a measure of health literacy was selected based on previous research that suggests that fertility knowledge is primarily linked to education, and by extension, health literacy (Bunting et al., 2013; Maeda et al., 2015). General nutrition knowledge

37

was selected to demonstrate divergent validity, based on its successful use in previous research

(Kudesia et al., 2017).

Chapter 3 Results

3.1 Generation of Item Pool

To address the first research aim, two item pools of 36 items were developed following the review of fertility knowledge scales (Table 2), review of the fertility literature and scale development protocol (De Vellis, 2012).

3.2 Content Validity Indexes (CVIs)

To address the second research aim, each item in the 36-item MFKI and FFKI was evaluated according to its I-CVI for relevance and clarity from the expert evaluation, and clarity from the pilot study. Items were flagged (i.e., marked for possible revision or elimination) if: (1) the I-CVI was less than .78 for relevance or clarity, and/or (2) responses to open-ended questions regarding clarity, comprehensibility and acceptability contained suggestion of amendment. Researchers (XX and XX) reviewed flagged items. Following this stage of analysis, 31 revised items were included in both the MFKI and FFKI. Tables 5 and 6 show the proposed MFKI and FFKI items respectively, CVI ratings from the expert and layperson evaluations, and item revisions, additions and removals.

Table 5

Expert evaluation and pilot study Content Validity Indexes for each item in the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory

Item	Expert Evaluation				Pilot Study
	I-CVI	I-CVI	Item revision	I-CVI	Item revision
	(Relevance)	(Clarity)		(Clarity)	
Age-related fertility decline					
Men do not experience a	.88	1		.92	
natural decline in their					
fertility^					
After 45 years old, a man's	.88	1	Over 40 years of age, a man's	1	
fertility declines, making it			fertility declines, making it		
significantly more difficult			significantly more difficult		
for him and his partner to			for him and his partner to		
conceive			conceive^		
The age of his female partner	1	.75	The age of his female partner	1	
can affect a male's chances of			also plays a role in their		
getting his partner pregnant*			chances of conceiving^		
Children born to older fathers	.88	.88		.92	
are more likely to develop					
health issues such as autism					
and schizophrenia^					
Risk factors for infertility					

Item		Expert	Evaluation		Pilot Study
Sexually transmitted	1	1		1	
infections, including					
chlamydia, gonorrhoea and					
HPV (Human					
Papillomavirus), can affect a					
man's fertility^					
Following cancer treatment	1	1		1	
(i.e., chemotherapy,					
radiotherapy), a man and his					
partner are more likely to					
have difficulties conceiving^					
An occlusion (blockage) in	.88	1		1	
the male reproductive system					
can affect a man's fertility^					
Changes in a man's hormone	.88	1		1	Changes in a man's hormone
levels can affect his and his					levels can affect his chances
partner's chance of					of conceiving with a partner^
conceiving*					
A man's weight can affect his	1	1	A man's weight/BMI (Body	1	
fertility*			Mass Index) can affect his		
			fertility^		

Item		Exper	t Evaluation	Pilot Study
Smoking cigarettes can affect	1	1		1
a man's fertility^				
Male shift workers can	.63	1	Item removed	
experience fertility problems				
due to changes in their				
Circadian Rhythm (normal				
sleeping pattern)*				
High levels of alcohol	.88	1	Chronic consumption of	1
consumption can affect male			alcohol can affect sperm	
fertility*			quality^	
Toxins in the environment	.88	1		1
(i.e., chemicals, pesticides,				
heavy metals) can affect a				
man's fertility^				
High levels of caffeine	.86	1	Item removed	
consumption can affect a				
man's fertility*				
Men who have had a mumps	.75	.88	Men who have had mumps	1
infection are more likely to			before puberty may	
have fertility problems*			experience fertility problems	
			if left untreated^	

Item	Expert Evaluation		Evaluation	Pilot Study
Sperm quality can be	.75	.88	A man's diet does not affect	1
improved by eating more fruit			his fertility^	
and vegetables*				
Male fertility can be	.63	.88	Item removed	
negatively affected by high				
consumption of processed				
meat*				
Taking certain vitamins can	.88	1	Taking vitamin supplements	1
increase the quality of a			can increase the quality of a	
man's sperm*			man's sperm^	
A man's sperm are adversely	1	.88	A man's sperm can be	1
affected by temperature			negatively affected by	
changes*			increased heat^	
			Use of anabolic steroids once	1
			a week can negatively affect a	
			man's fertility (steroids	
			contain Testosterone and are	
			performance enhancing drugs	
			used to increase muscular	
			strength and body weight)^	

Item		Exper	t Evaluation	Pilot Study
			Chromosomal changes can	1
			affect the production and	
			transportation of sperm^	
Misconceptions				
Men continue to produce new	.63	1	Men continue to produce and	1
sperm throughout their			mature new sperm every 72	
lifetime*			days^	
A man who produces sperm is	1	1		1
fertile^				
If a couple is attempting to	.75	.88	If a couple is attempting to	.92
conceive, they should have			conceive, they should abstain	
intercourse only when the			from having sex until the	
female is most fertile during			female is most fertile during	
her menstrual cycle, to			her menstrual cycle, to	
conserve the amount of sperm			conserve the amount of sperm	
available for conception*			available for conception^	
If a man already has one	.88	1		.92
biological child, he will not				
have trouble conceiving				
again^				
If a man and his partner are	.63	.63	Item removed	
struggling to become				

Item		Expert	Evaluation	Pilot Study
pregnant, he should just relax,				
as the stress of trying to				
conceive affects his fertility*				
Males are more fertile if they	.63	.75	Item removed	
lead a healthy lifestyle*				
To improve his fertility, a	.38	.63	Moderate, sustained exercise	1
man should exercise more			can improve a man's sperm	
intensively*			quality (i.e., 3-4 times a	
			week)^	
			Intense, sustained exercise	.92
			can improve a man's sperm	
			quality (i.e., 4-5 times a week	
			for 2 hours)^	
Reversal of a vasectomy	.88	1		1
procedure will guarantee the				
return of a man's fertility^				
Lubricants make it easier for	.50	.88	Some lubricants negatively	1
a man and his partner to			affect sperm^	
conceive*				
Infertility treatment				

Item		Exper	t Evaluation		Pilot Study
Most fertility problems are	.75	.88	Most fertility problems are	.92	Most fertility problems are
caused by the male partner*			caused by the male partner		caused by issues with the
			alone*		male partner's reproductive
					health alone^
A man and his partner who	1	.88	A man and his partner who	1	
are trying to conceive should			are trying to conceive should		
seek medical advice if they			seek medical advice if they		
cannot get pregnant following			cannot get pregnant following		
2 years of regular and			1 year of regular and		
unprotected sexual			unprotected sexual		
intercourse*			intercourse^		
It is normal for a man and his	.88	.75	More than half of men and	1	More than half of men and
partner to get pregnant on the			their partners get pregnant on		their partners conceive on the
first round of IVF (In Vitro			the first round of IVF (In		first round of IVF (In Vitro
Fertilisation: a medical			Vitro Fertilisation: a medical		Fertilisation: a medical
procedure where fertilisation			procedure where fertilisation		procedure where fertilisation
of the sperm and egg occurs			of the sperm and egg occurs		of the sperm and egg occurs
in a laboratory to create an			in a laboratory to create an		in a laboratory to create an
embryo that is transferred to a			embryo that is transferred to a		embryo that is transferred to a
woman's uterus a few days			woman's uterus a few days		woman's uterus a few days
later)*			later)*		later)^

Item		Expe	rt Evaluation		Pilot Study
The primary role of a fertility	.88	1		1	
specialist is to provide IVF					
(In Vitro Fertilisation) to a					
man and his partner (In Vitro					
Fertilisation: a medical					
procedure where fertilisation					
of the sperm and egg occurs					
in a laboratory to create an					
embryo that is transferred to a					
woman's uterus a few days					
later)^					
In fertility testing, a	.88	1	Sperm count (the number of	1	
conclusive indicator of a			sperm in a semen sample) is		
man's fertility is his sperm			the most important indicator		
count (the number of sperm			of male fertility^		
in a semen sample)*					
A man and his partner who	.63	.75	Item removed		
undergo treatment with IVF					
(In Vitro Fertilisation) have a					
50% chance of having a child					
(In Vitro Fertilisation: a					
medical procedure where					

Item		Expert l	Evaluation	Pilot Study
fertilisation of the sperm and				
egg occurs in a laboratory to				
create an embryo that is				
transferred to a woman's				
uterus a few days later)*				
In most countries, there is no	.13	1	Item removed	
limit on how long sperm can				
be frozen for*				
There is no age limit for a	.38	1	Item removed	
man if he would like to				
donate his sperm*				
S-CVI	.79	.92		.92

Notes. I-CVI = Item Content Validity Index; S-CVI = Scale Content Validity Index. *Item flagged for review, ^Final version of item.

Table 6

Expert evaluation and pilot study Content Validity Indexes for each item in the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory

Item		Expert	Evaluation	Pilot Study	
	I-CVI	I-CVI	Item revision	I-CVI	Item revision
	(Relevance)	(Clarity)		(Clarity)	
Age-related fertility decline					
A woman is most fertile	1	1		1	
before the age of 35 years $^{\wedge}$					
After 45 years old, a woman's	.88	.75	A woman in her 40s is	1	
fertility declines, making it			unlikely to conceive naturally		
significantly more difficult			using her own eggs even with		
for her to get pregnant*			fertility treatment, due to the		
			natural decline in fertility^		
The age of her male partner	.88	1		1	
can affect a woman's chances					
of conceiving^					
The risk of miscarriage for fit	1	1		1	
and healthy women is the					
same, whether they are in					
their 30s or their 40s [^]					
Risk factors for infertility					

Item		Expert	Evaluation	Pilot Study	
Sexually transmitted	1	1		1	
infections, including					
chlamydia, gonorrhoea and					
HPV (Human					
Papillomavirus), can affect a					
woman's fertility^					
Following cancer treatment	1	1		.92	
(i.e., chemotherapy,					
radiotherapy), a female is					
more likely to have					
difficulties conceiving^					
A fallopian tube occlusion	1	1		1	
(blockage) in the female					
reproductive system can					
affect her fertility^					
A history of endometriosis	1	1		.92	
can affect a woman's					
fertility^					
A woman's weight can affect	1	1	A woman's weight/BMI	1	
her fertility*			(Body Mass Index) can affect		
			her fertility^		

Item		Expert 1	Evaluation	Pilot Study
Smoking cigarettes can affect	1	1		.92
a woman's fertility^				
Female shift workers can	.75	.88	Item removed	
experience fertility problems				
due to changes in their				
Circadian Rhythm (normal				
sleeping pattern)*				
High levels of alcohol	.75	.75	Consumption of one standard	.92
consumption can affect			drink of alcohol per day is	
female fertility*			enough to reduce a woman's	
			fertility^	
Toxins in the environment	.88	1		1
(i.e., chemicals, pesticides,				
heavy metals) can affect a				
woman's fertility^				
High levels of caffeine	.75	.88	Item removed	
consumption can affect a				
woman's fertility*				
A woman who has	.75	.88		1
amenorrhoea (she is of				
reproductive age, but does not				
have a menstrual period), is				

Item		Exper	t Evaluation	Pilot Study	
more likely to have fertility					
problems^					
Female fertility can be	.63	.75	A woman's diet does not	.92	
improved by eating more			affect her fertility^		
fruit*					
Female fertility can be	.63	1	Item removed		
negatively affected by high					
consumption of fast food*					
Misconceptions					
A woman's body temperature	.50	.88	Item removed		
gives an accurate indication					
of the day on which she					
ovulates during her menstrual					
cycle*					
Women continue to produce	.88	1		1	
new eggs until they reach					
menopause^					
A woman who has a regular	1	1		1	
menstrual cycle is fertile^					
If a woman's menstrual cycle	.88	1	If a woman's menstrual cycle	.92	
lasts longer than 28 days, it is			is longer than 35 days, it is		
considered abnormal*			considered abnormal^		

Item		Expert Evaluation		Pilot Study	
If a woman already has one	.88	1		.92	
biological child, she will not					
have trouble conceiving					
again*					
If a woman is struggling to	.75	.88	If a woman is struggling to	.92	If a woman is struggling to
become pregnant she should			become pregnant she should		become pregnant she should
just relax, as the stress of			just relax, as the stress of		try to relax, as the stress of
trying to conceive			trying to conceive directly		trying to conceive directly
significantly affects her			affects her fertility*		affects her fertility^
fertility*					
Females are more fertile if	.63	.63	Item removed		
they lead a healthy lifestyle*					
To improve her fertility, a	.50	.63	Moderate, sustained exercise	1	
woman should exercise more			can improve a woman's		
intensively*			fertility (i.e., up to 4 hours of		
			brisk walking a week)^		
			Intense, sustained exercise	1	
			can improve a woman's		
			fertility (i.e., 1 hour of high		
			intensity exercise a day)^		
Taking certain vitamins can	.88	1	Taking vitamin supplements	1	
increase a woman's ovarian			can increase a woman's		

Item		Expert	Evaluation	Pilot Study	
reserve (the number of eggs			ovarian reserve (the number		
available to her, and the			of eggs available to her, and		
number of fertile years she			the number of fertile years		
has remaining)*			she has remaining)^		
Taking birth control pills for a	.88	.75	Taking birth control pills for a	1	
long period of time can affect			long period of time can affect		
a woman's fertility*			a woman's chances of		
			becoming pregnant in the		
			future^		
If a woman lays on her back	.63	1		1	
for 15 minutes after					
intercourse, she has a greater					
chance of becoming					
pregnant*					
Infertility treatment					
Most fertility problems are	.88	1	Most fertility problems are	.92	Most fertility problems are
caused by the female partner*			caused by the female partner		caused by issues with the
			alone*		female partner's reproductive
					health alone^
A woman trying to conceive	.88	.88	A woman trying to conceive	1	
should seek medical advice if			should seek medical advice if		
she cannot get pregnant			she cannot get pregnant		

Item		Expert]	Evaluation	Pilot Study	
following 2 years of regular and unprotected sexual intercourse*			following 1 year of regular and unprotected sexual intercourse^		
It is normal for a woman to get pregnant on the first round of IVF (In Vitro Fertilisation: a medical procedure where fertilisation of the sperm and egg occurs in a laboratory to create an embryo that is transferred to a woman's uterus a few days later)*	.63	.75	More than half of women and their partners get pregnant on the first round of IVF (In Vitro Fertilisation: a medical procedure where fertilisation of the sperm and egg occurs in a laboratory to create an embryo that is transferred to a woman's uterus a few days later)*	.92	More than half of women and their partners conceive on the first round of IVF (In Vitro Fertilisation: a medical procedure where fertilisation of the sperm and egg occurs in a laboratory to create an embryo that is transferred to a woman's uterus a few days later)^
The primary role of a fertility specialist is to provide IVF (In Vitro Fertilisation) to a woman (In Vitro Fertilisation: a medical procedure where fertilisation of the sperm and egg occurs in a laboratory to create an embryo that is	.63	.88		1	

Item		Expert	Evaluation	Pilot Study
transferred to a woman's				
uterus a few days later)*^				
The Anti-Mullerian Hormone	.88	.88	A woman can be tested to	1
test measures a woman's			determine her ovarian reserve	
ovarian reserve (the number			(the number of eggs available	
of eggs available to her, and			to her, and the number of	
the number of fertile years			fertile years she has	
she has remaining)*			remaining)^	
A woman who undergoes	.50	.63	Item removed	
multiple rounds of IVF (In				
Vitro Fertilisation) treatment				
has a 50% chance of having a				
child (In Vitro Fertilisation: a				
medical procedure where				
fertilisation of the sperm and				
egg occurs in a laboratory to				
create an embryo that is				
transferred to a woman's				
uterus a few days later)*				
Freezing her eggs guarantees	1	1		1
a woman will be able to				

Item		Expert]	Evaluation	Pilot Study
become pregnant in the				
future^				
There is an age limit for a	.50	.75	Item removed	
woman to donate her eggs to				
a fertility clinic to assist a				
woman she does not know*				
			A woman in her 40s is	.92
			equally as likely to become	
			pregnant through IVF as a	
			woman in her 30s (In Vitro	
			Fertilisation: a medical	
			procedure where fertilisation	
			of the sperm and egg occurs	
			in a laboratory to create an	
			embryo that is transferred to a	
			woman's uterus a few days	
			later)^	
S-CVI	.81	.90		.81

Notes. I-CVI = Item Content Validity Index; S-CVI = Scale Content Validity Index. *Item flagged for review, ^Final version of item.

3.3 Item Analysis

To fulfil the third research aim, items on the 31-item MFKI and FFKI were analysed using responses from the validation study (Tables 7 and 8). Individual cases without a response were excluded in a pairwise fashion, resulting in eight excluded from the MFKI and five excluded from the FFKI. Items were removed if they failed to meet all statistical criteria, that is, item difficulty, index of discrimination and item-to-total correlation (*see section 2.5.2*) and were evaluated for inclusion if they met one or two criteria. Items were immediately accepted if they fulfilled all three criteria. Researcher disagreement was resolved with consideration to the item's CVI rating. There was 87.1% agreement between researchers (XX and XX) on both scales, with a Cohen's kappa of .65. Following this stage of analysis, 24 items were included in the MFKI, and 21 in the FFKI.

Table 7

Item analysis of the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory

Item	р	D	Item-to-
			Total
			Correlation ^a
Men do not experience a natural decline in their fertility	.60	.44	53
Over 40 years of age, a man's fertility declines, making it	.44	.13	22
significantly more difficult for him and his partner to conceive*^			
The age of his female partner also plays a role in their chances of	.98	.05	71
conceiving*			
Children born to older fathers are more likely to develop health	.30	.20	29
issues such as autism and schizophrenia*			
Sexually transmitted infections, including chlamydia, gonorrhoea	.78	.34	51
and HPV (Human Papillomavirus), can affect a man's fertility			
Following cancer treatment (i.e., chemotherapy, radiotherapy), a	.80	.44	67
man and his partner are more likely to have difficulties			
conceiving^			
An occlusion (blockage) in the male reproductive system can	.80	.48	75
affect a man's fertility			
Changes in a man's hormone levels can affect his chances of	.78	.53	75
conceiving with a partner			
A man's weight/BMI (Body Mass Index) can affect his fertility^	.82	.41	66
Smoking cigarettes can affect a man's fertility	.78	.46	69
Chronic consumption of alcohol can affect sperm quality	.88	.33	75
Toxins in the environment (i.e., chemicals, pesticides, heavy	.80	.49	79
metals) can affect a man's fertility			
Men who have had mumps before puberty may experience	.36	.57	57
fertility problems if left untreated			
A man's diet does not affect his fertility	.81	.49	76
Taking vitamin supplements can increase the quality of a man's	.30	.43	53
sperm			

Item D Item-toр Total **Correlation**^a A man's sperm can be negatively affected by increased heat .67 .56 -.58 Use of anabolic steroids once a week can negatively affect a .75 .56 -.70 man's fertility (steroids contain Testosterone and are performance enhancing drugs used to increase muscular strength and body weight)^ Chromosomal changes can affect the production and .50 .69 -.68 transportation of sperm Men continue to produce and mature new sperm every 72 days^ .29 .39 -.48 A man who produces sperm is fertile .72 .30 -.47 If a couple is attempting to conceive, they should abstain from .67 .34 -.39 having sex until the female is most fertile during her menstrual cycle, to conserve the amount of sperm available for conception* If a man already has one biological child, he will not have trouble .80 .39 -.60 conceiving again^ Moderate, sustained exercise can improve a man's sperm quality .63 .64 -.69 (i.e., 3-4 times a week) $^{\wedge}$ Intense, sustained exercise can improve a man's sperm quality .19 .39 -.53 (i.e., 4-5 times a week for 2 hours) Reversal of a vasectomy procedure will guarantee the return of a .79 .41 -.54 man's fertility Some lubricants negatively affect sperm .48 .71 -.65 Most fertility problems are caused by issues with the male .75 .34 -.43 partner's reproductive health alone* A man and his partner who are trying to conceive should seek .93 .15 -.51 medical advice if they cannot get pregnant following 1 year of regular and unprotected sexual intercourse* More than half of men and their partners conceive on the first .38 .38 -.31 round of IVF*

Item	р	D	Item-to-
			Total
			Correlation ^a
The primary role of a fertility specialist is to provide IVF (In Vitro	.65	.43	51
Fertilisation) to a man and his partner			
Sperm count (the number of sperm in a semen sample) is the most	.40	.49	58
important indicator of male fertility^			

Notes. ^a Item-to-total correlation = Biserial correlation, using transformed data. p = Item difficulty, D = Item discrimination. $^n = 225$, *Item removed.
Table 8

Item analysis of the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory

Item	р	D	Item-to-Total
			Correlation ^a
A woman is most fertile before the age of 35 years	.96	.12	70
A woman in her 40s is unlikely to conceive using her own eggs	.40	.26	28
even with fertility treatment, due to the natural decline in			
fertility*			
The age of her male partner can affect a woman's chances of	.60	.16	25
conceiving*			
The risk of miscarriage for fit and healthy women is the same,	.67	.66	63
whether they are in their 30s or their 40s			
Sexually transmitted infections, including chlamydia, gonorrhoea	.91	.25	72
and HPV (Human Papillomavirus), can affect a woman's fertility			
Following cancer treatment (i.e., chemotherapy, radiotherapy), a	.86	.28	68
female is more likely to have difficulties conceiving*			
A fallopian tube occlusion (blockage) in the female reproductive	.88	.30	75
system can affect her fertility*			
A history of endometriosis can affect a woman's fertility	.81	.46	69
A woman's weight/BMI (Body Mass Index) can affect her	.87	.30	70
fertility			
Smoking cigarettes can affect a woman's fertility	.80	.46	67
Consumption of one standard drink of alcohol per day is enough	.29	.16	21
to reduce a woman's fertility*			
Toxins in the environment (i.e., chemicals, pesticides, heavy	.82	.46	77
metals) can affect a woman's fertility			
A woman who has amenorrhoea (she is of reproductive age, but	.74	.31	46
does not have a menstrual period), is more likely to have fertility			
problems*			
A woman's diet does not affect her fertility^	.83	.46	77

Item	р	D	Item-to-Total
			Correlation ^a
Women continue to produce new eggs until they reach	.47	.56	55
menopause			
A woman who has a regular menstrual cycle is fertile	.68	.54	65
If a woman's menstrual cycle is longer than 35 days, it is	.63	.21	30
considered abnormal*			
If a woman already has one biological child, she will not have	.87	.36	76
trouble conceiving again			
If a woman is struggling to become pregnant she should try to	.15	.16	34
relax, as the stress of trying to conceive directly affects her			
fertility*			
Moderate, sustained exercise can improve a woman's fertility	.65	.54	57
(i.e., up to 4 hours of brisk walking a week)			
Intense, sustained exercise can improve a woman's fertility (i.e.,	.24	.41	52
1 hour of high intensity exercise a day)^			
Taking vitamin supplements can increase a woman's ovarian	.54	.69	60
reserve (the number of eggs available to her, and the number of			
fertile years she has remaining)			
Taking birth control pills for a long period of time can affect a	.42	.46	51
woman's chances of becoming pregnant in the future			
If a woman lays on her back for 15 minutes after intercourse, she	.49	.39	40
has a greater chance of becoming pregnant			
Most fertility problems are caused by issues with the female	.75	.26	43
partner's reproductive health alone*^			
A woman trying to conceive should seek medical advice if she	.94	.13	56
cannot get pregnant following 1 year of regular and unprotected			
sexual intercourse*			
More than half of women and their partners conceive on the first	.46	.62	59
round of IVF			
The primary role of a fertility specialist is to provide IVF (In	.60	.59	62
Vitro Fertilisation) to a woman			

Item	р	D	Item-to-Total	
			Correlation ^a	
A woman can be tested to determine her ovarian reserve (the	.65	.48	54	
number of eggs available to her, and the number of fertile years				
she has remaining)				
Freezing her eggs guarantees a woman will be able to become	.84	.39	67	
pregnant in the future^				
A woman in her 40s is equally as likely to become pregnant	.63	.64	59	
through IVF as a woman in her 30s [^]				

Notes. ^a Item-to-total correlation = Biserial correlation, using transformed data.

p = Item difficulty, D = Item discrimination. ^n = 225, *Item removed.

3.4 Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA)

To fulfil the fourth research aim, EFA was conducted to explore the underlying structure of the 24-item MFKI and the 21-item FFKI and to refine the inventories. Recommendations were used to guide the analysis as follows: (1) items with factor loadings greater than or equal to .32 were retained and deemed representative of a factor, (2) items that were representative of no factors were removed preferentially, followed by items that loaded on multiple factors, (3) three items were required to constitute a factor (Hair, Black, Babin, Anderson, & Tatham, 2006; Hinkin, 1998; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001). As the Kaiser-Guttman Criterion is considered the least accurate method for determining the number of factors to retain, Osborne (2014) recommends use of this criterion combined with the scree plot in determining the number of factors. As the current study was exploratory, solutions extracting the number of factors one to two factors above and below the elbow of the scree plot were examined (Osborne, 2014).

On analysis of the MFKI, the KMO indicated sampling adequacy for the analysis (.847), and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity (X^2 (276) = 1135.2, p = .000) indicated suitability of the correlation matrix for factor analysis (Howard, 2016). Principal Axis Factoring (PAF) with oblique rotation (direct oblimin δ = 0) was performed to allow correlation of the resultant factors (Howard, 2016). The initial analysis yielded seven factors with eigenvalues greater than 1.0, accounting for 54.08% of the total variance. However, the scree plot suggested a one-factor solution (Figure 4). Therefore, factor analysis was conducted using PAF with oblique rotation, specifying that one, two and three factors should be identified. When tested against the one-, and two-factor solutions, the three-factor solution accounted for the greatest degree of explained variance (46.23%) and was the most interpretable solution. There were no multiple loading items, and items did not load greater than .236 on a secondary factor. Five communalities were greater than 0.3. The items cluster together to suggest that Factor 1 represents environment and

reproductive health, Factor 2 represents lifestyle factors, and Factor 3 represents sperm quality (Table 9).



Figure 4. Scree plot of the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory by Principal Axis Factoring.

Table 9

Summary of exploratory factor analysis results for the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory in a sample of people of reproductive age

Item & number	Fa	Factor Loadings		
	1	2	3	
Factor 1: Environment and reproductive health				
1. An occlusion (blockage) in the male reproductive system can	.813	012	09	
affect a man's fertility				
2. Men do not experience a natural decline in their fertility	.488	001	.005	
3. Toxins in the environment (i.e., chemicals, pesticides, heavy	.427	217	.038	
metals) can affect a man's fertility				
4. If a man already has one biological child, he will not have	.329	.103	.235	
trouble conceiving again				
5. Use of anabolic steroids once a week can negatively affect a	.439	069	.125	
man's fertility (steroids contain Testosterone and are				
performance enhancing drugs used to increase muscular				
strength and body weight)				
Factor 2: Lifestyle factors				
6. A man's weight/BMI (Body Mass Index) can affect his	.236	387	054	
fertility				
7. A man's diet does not affect his fertility	.031	721	.004	
8. Chronic consumption of alcohol can affect sperm quality	.025	570	.065	
9. Smoking cigarettes can affect a man's fertility	073	726	.067	
Factor 3: Sperm quality				
10. Men continue to produce and mature new sperm every 72	.031	.044	.452	
days				
11. Intense, sustained exercise can improve a man's sperm	039	.048	.505	
quality (i.e., 4-5 times a week for 2 hours)				
12. Men who have had mumps before puberty may experience	01	102	.372	
fertility problems if left untreated				
13. Some lubricants negatively affect sperm	.107	111	.397	

14. Chromosomal changes can affect the production and	.054	186	.421
transportation of sperm			
Initial eigenvalues for each factor	3.82	1.44	1.22
Percentage of variance accounted for after extraction	27.26	10.26	8.71

Notes. Factor loadings > .32 are in bold type. Rotation converged in 8 iterations.

On analysis of the FFKI, the KMO indicated sampling adequacy for the analysis (.805) and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity (X^2 (210) = 988.2, p = .000) indicated suitability of the correlation matrix for factor analysis. PAF with oblique rotation (direct oblimin δ = 0) was performed. The initial analysis yielded six factors with eigenvalues greater than 1.0, accounting for 53.75% of the total variance. However, the scree plot suggested a one or two factor solution (Figure 5). Therefore, factor analysis was conducted using PAF with oblique rotation, specifying that one-, two-, three- and four-factor solutions should be tested. When tested against these solutions, the four-factor solutions accounted for the greatest degree of explained variance (53.74%) and resulted in the most interpretable solution. There were no multiple loadings, and eleven of the items had communalities greater than .3. The items cluster together to suggest that Factor 1 represents reproductive health, Factor 2 represents lifestyle factors, Factor 3 represents chance of conception and Factor 4 represents ovarian reserve and preservation (Table 10).



Figure 5. Scree plot of the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory by Principal Axis Factoring.

Table 10

Summary of exploratory factor analysis results for the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory in a sample of people of reproductive age

Item		Factor Loading			
	1	2	3	4	
Factor 1: Reproductive health					
1. Sexually transmitted infections, including chlamydia,	.415	186	032	.068	
gonorrhoea and HPV (Human Papillomavirus), can affect					
a woman's fertility					
2. A history of endometriosis can affect a woman's fertility	.671	.090	.162	047	
3. A woman's weight/BMI (Body Mass Index) can affect	.615	156	096	.085	
her fertility					
Factor 2: Lifestyle factors					
4. A woman's diet does not affect her fertility	.153	513	.138	.072	
5. Toxins in the environment (i.e., chemicals, pesticides,	.058	624	070	.176	
heavy metals) can affect a woman's fertility					
6. Smoking cigarettes can affect a woman's fertility	113	731	.107	034	
7. Moderate, sustained exercise can improve a woman's	.164	395	.054	089	
fertility (i.e., up to 4 hours of brisk walking a week)					
Factor 3: Chance of conception					
8. The risk of miscarriage for fit and healthy women is the	021	053	.597	.023	
same, whether they are in their 30s or their 40s					
9. A woman in her 40s is equally as likely to become	.036	111	.553	073	
pregnant through IVF as a woman in her 30s					
10. More than half of women and their partners conceive	.066	.014	.419	.112	
on the first round of IVF					
Factor 4: Ovarian reserve and preservation					
11. Women continue to produce new eggs until they reach	.008	112	101	.563	
menopause					
12. The primary role of a fertility specialist is to provide	085	038	.306	.446	
IVF (In Vitro Fertilisation) to a woman					

13. A woman who has a regular menstrual cycle is fertile	.237	.076	.131	.388
14. Taking vitamin supplements can increase a woman's	0	.045	.019	.673
ovarian reserve (the number of eggs available to her, and				
the number of fertile years she has remaining)				
15. Freezing her eggs guarantees a woman will be able to	.158	.006	.208	.327
become pregnant in the future				
Initial eigenvalues for each factor	4.068	1.609	1.259	1.126
Percentage of variance accounted for after extraction	27.12	10.73	8.39	7.50

Notes. Factor loadings > .32 are in bold type. Rotation converged in 11 iterations.

3.5 Descriptive statistics

Table 11 summarises the descriptive statistics and reliability of all scales, presented within an acceptable range of .60 to .88, excepting the SFAQ (.19).

Table 11

-	Scale	N ^a	M(SD)	Reliability ^b
-	MFKI	222	8.86 (3.05)	.78
	FFKI	224	10.35 (3.19)	.77
	SFAQ	189	1.74 (1.20)	.19
	CFKS	221	7.97 (2.44)	.60
	HLSISF	212	6.68 (4.87)	.72
	GNKQR	199	63.84 (10.13)	.88

Means, standard deviations and reliability for all criterion measures

Notes. ^a = Variations in sample size due to missing data, ^b = Cronbach's Alpha. MFKI = 14-item Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory; FFKI = 15-item Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory; SFAQ = Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire; CFKS = Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale; HLSISF = Health Literacy Skills Instrument Short Form, GNKQR = General Nutrition Knowledge Questionnaire (Revised).

3.6 Internal consistency

To fulfil the fifth research aim, the internal consistency of the MFKI, FFKI and their factors was calculated. The MFKI revealed acceptable reliability ($\alpha = .78$), while its factors revealed minimally acceptable to acceptable internal consistency, excepting the sperm quality factor ($\alpha = .58$) (De Vellis, 2012) (Table 12).

The complete FFKI revealed acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha = .77$), as did all its factors excepting the chance of conception factor ($\alpha = .57$) (De Vellis, 2012) (Table 13).

Table 12

Internal consistency for the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory and factors

MFKI	Reliability ^a
Entire scale	.78
Environment and reproductive health	.67
Lifestyle factors	.73
Sperm quality	.58

Notes. ^a = Cronbach's Alpha.

Table 13

Internal consistency for the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory and factors

FFKI	Reliability ^a
Entire scale	.77
Reproductive health	.64
Lifestyle factors	.70
Chance of conception	.57
Ovarian reserve and preservation	.68

Notes. $^{a} = \overline{\text{Cronbach's Alpha.}}$

3.7 Validity testing

To test the eight hypotheses, Spearman's correlation analyses were conducted (Tables 14

and 15).

Table 14

Summary of correlations between the Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory, its factors and scales used for validity testing

	MFKI	EnvRep	Life	SpQual	SFAQ	CFKS	HLSISF	GNKQR
MFKI	1.00							
EnvRep	.747**	1.00						
Life	.621**	.340**	1.00					
SpQual	.836**	.411**	.388**	1.00				
SFAQ	.092	.027	.144*	.077	1.00			
CFKS	.566**	.368**	.295**	.535**	.264**	1.00		
HLSISF	.056	.183**	.007	048	.167*	.149*	1.00	
GNKQR	.453**	.388**	.309**	.335**	.268**	.522**	.318**	1.00

Notes. *p < .05, **p < .01, two-tailed test.

MFKI = 14-item Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory; EnvRep = Environment and reproductive health; Life = Lifestyle factors; SpQual = Sperm quality; SFAQ = Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire, concurrent validity; CFKS = Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale, concurrent validity; HLSISF = Health Literacy Skills Instrument Short Form, convergent validity; GNKQR = General Nutrition Knowledge Questionnaire (Revised), divergent validity.

Table 15

Summary of correlations between the Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory, its factors and scales used for validity testing

	FFKI	RepHe	Life	Concep	OvRes	SFAQ	CFKS	HLSISF	GNKQR
FFKI	1.00								
RepHe	.580**	1.00							
Life	.624**	.339**	1.00						
Concep	.699**	.306**	.327**	1.00					
OvRes	.786**	.344**	.253**	.358**	1.00				
SFAQ	.271**	.186**	.123	.173**	.247**	1.00			
CFKS	.590**	.379**	.369**	.352**	.495**	.264**	1.00		
HLSISF	.143*	.095	.017	.048	.226**	.167*	.149*	1.00	
GNKQR	.603**	.452**	.320**	.372**	.522**	.268**	.522**	.318**	1.00

Notes. *p < .05, **p < .01, two-tailed test.

FFKI = 15-item Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory; RepHe = Reproductive health; Life = Lifestyle factors; Concep = chance of conception; OvRes = Ovarian reserve and preservation; SFAQ = Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire, concurrent validity; CFKS = Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale, concurrent validity; HLSISF = Health Literacy Skills Instrument Short Form, convergent validity; GNKQR = General Nutrition Knowledge Questionnaire (Revised), divergent validity.

3.7.1 Hypotheses 1 and 2: there will be a positive correlation between the MFKI and both the SFAQ and CFKS.

As in Table 14, there was no significant correlation between the entire MFKI or its factors with the SFAQ, excepting the negligible positive correlation between the lifestyle factors factor and SFAQ (.144, p<.05) (Hinkle, Wiersma, & Jurs, 2003). Therefore, hypothesis one was not supported. There was a moderate positive correlation between both the entire MFKI and the sperm quality factor, with the CFKS (.566 and .535, respectively, p<.01), and negligible to low correlations of its other factors (Hinkle et al., 2003), supporting hypothesis two. Overall, partial support for concurrent validity was achieved.

3.7.2 Hypotheses 5 and 6: there will be a positive correlation between the FFKI and both the SFAQ and CFKS.

There were negligible positive correlations between the entire FFKI and three of its factors with the SFAQ ranging from .173 to .271 (p<.01) (Hinkle et al., 2003) (Table 15). Therefore, hypothesis five was not supported. There was a moderate positive correlation between the entire FFKI and the CFKS (.590), and low positive correlations of all factors with the CFKS (p<.01) (Hinkle et al., 2003), supporting hypothesis six. Overall, partial support for concurrent validity was achieved.

3.7.3 Hypotheses 3 and 7: there will be a positive correlation between the MFKI and FFKI respectively, and the HLSISF.

To establish convergent validity, the hypotheses that there would be a positive correlation between the MFKI and FFKI, and HLSISF were not supported. As in Table 14, there were no significant correlations between the MFKI and its factors and the HLSISF, excepting a negligible positive correlation of the environment and reproductive health factor (.183, p< .01) (Hinkle et al., 2003). As in Table 15, there was a negligible positive correlation between both the FFKI and

the ovarian reserve and preservation factor, and the HLSISF (.143, p<.05 and .226, p<.01, respectively). Therefore, both hypotheses were not supported and did not provide evidence of convergent validity.

Positive correlations between existing measures of fertility knowledge (SFAQ and CFKS) and the HLSISF were negligible (.167 and .149, respectively) (p<.05) (Table 14).

3.7.4 Hypotheses 4 & 8: There will be no correlation between the MFKI and FFKI respectively, and the GNKQR.

To establish divergent validity, the hypotheses that there would be no correlation between the MFKI and FFKI, and the GNKQR was not supported (Tables 14 and 15). There was a moderate positive correlation between the MFKI and all of its factors, and the GNKQR, with correlations ranging from .309 to .453 (p<.01) (Hinkle et al., 2003). Similarly, the FFKI and the ovarian reserve and preservation factor correlated moderately with the GNKQR (.603 and .522, respectively, p<.01), and there were negligible to moderate positive correlations between all other factors and the GNKQR, ranging from .320 to .452 (p<.01). Therefore, the hypotheses were not supported and did not provide evidence for divergent validity.

Positive correlations between existing measures of fertility knowledge varied; there was a negligible correlation with the SFAQ (.268, p<.01), while the CFKS revealed a moderate correlation (.522) (p<.01) (Table 14).

Chapter 4 Discussion

The aim of the current study was to develop and validate two scales that measure knowledge specific to, and representative of, male and female fertility in a population of reproductive age. Scale development adopted the Classical Test Theory paradigm and followed protocol for construct operationalisation, item generation, and theoretical and psychometric analysis (De Vellis, 2012; Morgado et al., 2018). Extensive development of individual items saw 36 initial items in each pool refined through expert and layperson CVI evaluation, item difficulty, item discrimination and item-to-total analyses. Findings supported a three-factor structure for the final 14-item MFKI and a four-factor structure for the final 15-item FFKI (see Appendix M for copies of the final inventories with participant instructions), demonstrating acceptable reliability. Support for concurrent validity was partially confirmed for both scales, with greater evidence provided by the CFKS than the SFAQ, inconsistent with validity testing in previous scale development (Kudesia et al., 2017). Additionally, convergent and divergent validity were not confirmed and were inconsistent with previous literature (Bunting et al., 2013; Kudesia et al., 2017). Both scales contain content pertinent to fertility decision-making (Bunting et al., 2013), and types of information important to enable behaviour change stipulated by the IMB Model (Fisher et al., 2003), useful in future research and intervention design.

4.1 Initial Item Generation and Analysis

While several scales in the literature review attempt to demonstrate item generation (Daumler et al., 2016; Kudesia et al., 2017; Prior et al., 2018), there is little evidence for the evaluation of multiple iterations of proposed items in an initial item pool. Additionally, scales that do undergo theoretical analysis most commonly use qualitative methods (n = 5), while one employed quantitative and qualitative methods, as in the current study (Table 2). Furthermore, theoretical analysis of fertility knowledge is currently limited to the conceptualisation of

generalised fertility knowledge, indiscriminate of the severity of lifestyle and reproductive factors that impact male and female fertility differently. While numerous scales seek to measure aspects of both male and female fertility in a single scale (Daniluk & Koert, 2016; Holton et al., 2016; Kudesia et al., 2017), there are none that offer two separate, but comparable, scales measuring aspects of fertility specific to each gender. Therefore, the current study is the first to date that offers two separate scales following established item generation and theoretical analysis techniques to address the aforementioned shortcomings.

4.2 Psychometric Analysis

4.2.1 Internal structure.

Findings revealed a three-factor structure for the final 14-item MFKI (environment and reproductive health, lifestyle factors and sperm quality), explaining 46.23% of the total variance, while a four-factor solution on the final 15-item FFKI (reproductive health, lifestyle factors, chance of conception and ovarian reserve and preservation) explained 53.74% of the total variance. In comparison to previous research, the current scales explain greater variance in comparison to the CFKS (30% explained variance) (Bunting et al., 2013), and the Fertility Awareness Scale (FAS), which failed to converge altogether (Daniluk & Koert, 2013).

The internal structure and item content is similar between the current scales; for example, the MFKI environment and reproductive health factor is analogous to the FFKI reproductive health factor, explaining similar variance (27.26% and 27.12%, respectively). Additionally, the lifestyle factors factor in the MFKI and FFKI explain similar variance, and share two items in common regarding diet and smoking (10.26% and 10.73%, respectively). While to some extent similar, factors also vary in content. The MFKI sperm quality and FFKI ovarian reserve and preservation factors reveal the importance of knowledge of biological functions specific to each gender (explaining 8.71% and 7.50%, respectively), aspects of which have not been separately

addressed in fertility knowledge measurement. There are, however, further items in this FFKI factor related to fertility preservation that reflect the feminised conceptualisation of fertility and typically greater involvement of females in infertility treatment (Arya & Dibb, 2016). Finally, given the favourable portrayal of success stories of births to women over 40 years old in the media (Hewlett, 2004), the additional chance of conception factor in the FFKI addresses these strongly held misconceptions regarding age-related female fertility decline in a population of reproductive age. A significant strength of the current scales is the inclusion of items that encompass specific facts and heuristics, important information areas as identified by the IMB Model (Fisher et al., 2003).

Correlations between factors in the MFKI and FFKI ranged from low to moderate, indicating that although they share variance, they also explain different aspects of fertility knowledge. As this is the first study to examine a multifactorial structure of fertility knowledge, it is possible that the construct is integrated differently to that proposed by previous research (Bunting et al., 2013).

Widaman (1993) suggests that accurate analysis of data in EFA occurs when items have uniformly high communalities without cross loadings and several variables that load strongly on each factor. In practice, these conditions can be rare (Widaman, 1993). Communalities on the current scales are relatively low, with five items on the MFKI and eleven items on the FFKI having communalities greater than .3. However, all items are without cross loadings and factors are comprised of at least three items that have relatively strong loadings. Thus, as results fulfil two of these three criteria, and as the current study has adequate power, future research should continue to explore the multifactorial structure of the current scales using confirmatory factor analysis.

4.2.2 Internal consistency.

The MFKI and FFKI revealed internal consistency within the acceptable range ($\alpha = .78, \alpha = .77$, respectively). It is recommended that the scales be used in their entirety to optimise their reliability, as minimal acceptability of the sperm quality ($\alpha = .58$) and chance of conception factors ($\alpha = .57$) on respective scales limits the reliability of their use as independent measures of fertility knowledge.

The reliability of the complete MFKI and FFKI are comparable to existing measures of fertility knowledge, with greater reliability than both the SFAQ and CFKS in the current study ($\alpha = .19, \alpha = .60$, respectively). Previous use of the CFKS and the CFKS-J reveals acceptable internal consistency, ranging from $\alpha = .72$ (Maeda, Nakamura, Boivin, et al., 2016) to $\alpha = .79$ (Bunting et al., 2013). The current scales also reveal a slight improvement on less commonly used scales in the literature, including the FAS and the MU-Fertility Knowledge Assessment Scale ($\alpha = .74$) (Daniluk & Koert, 2012; Mu, 2017).

The MFKI and FFKI are the first multifactorial fertility knowledge scales in the literature. As acknowledged by Giles (2008), multifactorial scales are likely to have lower internal consistency than unifactorial scales. Therefore, the comparable internal consistency as previously discussed is a strength of the current study.

With regards to optimal scale length, reliability can be inflated due to a large number of scale items; De Vellis (2012) suggests that extremely high internal consistency ($\alpha > .9$) indicates the need for further scale length refinement. Internal consistency of the MFKI and FFKI, however, does not indicate that this is required.

4.2.3 Concurrent validity.

The hypotheses that there would be a positive association between the MFKI and FFKI, and the SFAQ were not supported, with no and negligible positive correlations respectively.

Evidence for concurrent validity did not replicate previous findings that established a moderate positive correlation between the SFAQ and the Fertility and Infertility Treatment and Knowledge Score (FIT-KS) (p = .45, p < .0001) (Kudesia et al., 2017). There are several possible explanations for this finding. Firstly, the SFAQ revealed minimal internal consistency ($\alpha = .19$), limiting conclusions drawn from such results. Secondly, the content of the FIT-KS and the SFAQ share focus on female fertility and fecundability at advancing ages, aligning closely to fertility awareness (Hampton & Mazza, 2015). The FFKI also contains several items pertinent to this content (5, 6, 7, 8 & 15) that may explain the negligible correlations detected, in contrast to the MFKI, which does not contain items specific to female fertility and did not reveal this association.

The hypotheses that there will be a positive association between the MFKI and FFKI, and the CFKS were supported by moderate correlations between the scales. There is no previous research with which to compare this result, however, there are several possible explanations for these findings. Firstly, the CFKS and current scales employ the same answer format, unlike the open response format of the SFAQ which required increased cognitive effort and may have contributed to respondent burden, decreasing response quality (Lavrakas, 2008). Secondly, unlike the SFAQ, understandings of fertility on the CFKS are operationalised as fertility knowledge and hence measure the same construct as current scales.

4.2.4 Convergent validity.

The hypotheses that the MFKI and FFKI would correlate positively with health literacy were not supported, with no or negligible correlations respectively. These results were not in accordance with previous research (Maeda et al., 2015), and findings in other health contexts that suggest a positive association between health literacy and cancer, diabetes and HIV knowledge (De Walt, Berkman, Sheridan, & Pignone, 2004). Differences in health literacy measurement may

have contributed to the findings in the current study. Maeda et al. (2015) used the 14-item Health Literacy Scale, which is a self-report measure of health literacy, while the HLSISF in the current study purports to measure the same construct, however, tests the ability to read, locate and understand health information in written and oral mediums. Additionally, the current sample was highly educated, with 90% of females and 76% of males currently enrolled in or having completed university studies; the population most likely to delay childbearing (Fulford et al., 2013). Intuitively, this implies that participants can more easily apply complex critical thinking skills to understand health-related materials in contrast to less educated populations. Thus, this scale may have been less sensitive in determining an association between fertility knowledge and health literacy in contrast to the previous sample where only 45% of participants were university educated (Maeda et al., 2015). Furthermore, as participants responded to content in videos and audio recordings, increased respondent burden may have played a role in response quality (Lavrakas, 2008).

4.2.5 Divergent validity.

The hypotheses that there would be no association between the MFKI and FFKI, respectively, and nutrition knowledge was not supported, with moderate associations between scales. These results were not in accordance with a previous study using the FIT-KS that found a weak association between nutrition and fertility knowledge, suggesting that nutrition knowledge evidenced divergent validity (Kudesia et al., 2017). It was argued that a moderate or strong correlation, as in the current study, would suggest that a fertility knowledge scale served as a proxy measurement for general health knowledge. However, a similar correlation between these scales and health literacy would also be expected if the current scales were a proxy measure for general health knowledge, which, as previously discussed did not occur. Additionally, the CFKS also had a moderate association with nutrition knowledge in the current study, indicating a greater

association between fertility and nutrition knowledge than previously identified. This result is somewhat unexpected given that the FIT-KS, CFKS and the current scales measure the same operationalised construct of fertility knowledge. However, it is possible that nutrition knowledge is a suitable test of divergent validity for fertility awareness, as the construct measures understanding of a woman's fertile period of the menstrual cycle (Hampton & Mazza, 2015) and is unlikely to correlate with nutrition knowledge, given the lack of focus on nutritional factors related to fertility. This was demonstrated in the relatively weak association between the SFAQ and GNKQR; this outcome, however, is limited by the low reliability of the SFAQ. As divergent validity has only been tested in the current study and for the FIT-KS (Kudesia et al., 2017), further research should be undertaken to explore these conflicting results.

4.3 Demographic and Reproductive Characteristics

Participation in fertility research has previously been dominated by female populations, as involvement in fertility preservation and treatment is systematically presumed to be of female interest and responsibility (Arya & Dibb, 2016). Therefore, the low proportion of male participants in the validation study (24%), while not uncommon, partially limits the external validity of the scales and suggests further validation be undertaken in male populations.

Additionally, previous research indicates that women younger than 35 years are more likely to intend to take measures to improve their chance of conceiving when they are knowledgeable about fertility and feel susceptible to infertility, while there is no association in older women (Fulford et al., 2013). In the current validation study, the average age of men and women was significantly younger than this critical age (25.3 and 26.5 years, respectively), and the median age of first-time mothers and fathers in Australia, being 33.1 and 28.9 years, respectively (ABS, 2016; AIHW, 2017). Thus, the current study contains participants that are representative of a population most likely to delay childbearing given their highly educated

characteristics, but still younger than the critical age of fertility decision-making and childbearing, which is relevant to future research implications.

4.4 Limitations

This study was the first to develop and validate two scales that measure knowledge specific to male and female fertility. However, several limitations of the current study should be noted. Fertility knowledge research is still in its early stages and thus psychometric testing was largely exploratory, so the current study selected the most suitable constructs to test validity given the limited literature. However, existing measures of fertility knowledge did not reveal associations with health literacy and nutrition knowledge that would be expected if such constructs were truly suitable for psychometric testing in fertility knowledge scale development, with only the association between the SFAQ and nutrition knowledge providing support as hypothesised for divergent validity. However, it is not advisable to evaluate suitability of divergent validity, based on the low reliability of this scale in the current study. Future research should therefore identify additional means of validity testing for fertility knowledge.

Additionally, caution should be exercised when considering the use of the MFKI and FFKI factors as individual measures of aspects of fertility knowledge, as psychometric properties do not reveal acceptable reliability and validity. Thus, there is greater need to explore individual aspects of fertility knowledge to contribute to a greater understanding of the construct.

4.5 Clinical Implications and Further Research

The current study offers several peripheral contributions to the literature, including a review of the limitations of existing measures of fertility knowledge measurement, and a working definition of fertility knowledge informed by fertility research and the IMB Model (Bunting et al., 2013; Fisher et al., 2003).

The contribution of these two new scales, the MFKI and FFKI, is significant as researchers will now be able to assess knowledge of male and female fertility separately. The creation of interventions designed to improve fertility knowledge using the IMB model requires delivery of specific information that is most relevant to the selected population's health behaviour practices (Fisher et al., 2003), and by extension requires scales specific to this information to evaluate outcomes. Hence, the MFKI and FFKI allow researchers to apply greater specificity in their approach and measurement. This will also permit researchers to identify areas of fertility knowledge that are poorly understood in the general population and within specific, diverse groups upon further validity testing, such as adolescents, members of the LGBTIQA+ community and those from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. Ultimately, researchers will be able to explore how such knowledge, together with motivation and behavioural skills, may be able to minimise the risk of involuntary childlessness due to modifiable male and female fertility risk factors in cross sectional and longitudinal research.

As the current sample revealed that a high proportion of people receive fertility information from the internet, their doctor and public health centres, future use of the scales in clinical practice should reflect such information sources. Clinical interventions can be developed using the current scales to deliver information online or in person to educate people about male and female fertility, as has recently been proposed by several Australian fertility researchers (Hammarberg et al., 2017; Prior et al., 2018). Additionally, the development of criterion estimates will allow use of these scales as screening tools in primary healthcare and will identify individuals at greatest risk of infertility and involuntary childlessness due to lack of knowledge.

4.6 Conclusion

The present study developed two measures of fertility knowledge and examined their psychometric properties in a population of reproductive age. The 14-item MFKI and 15-item

FFKI were created using established test protocol with high internal consistency and partial evidence for concurrent validity. The present research suggests that determination of appropriate validity testing will be useful in future research to allow further refinement of the scales, as findings did not necessarily support previous research (Kudesia et al., 2017; Maeda et al., 2015). Furthermore, it is challenging to compare the psychometric properties of the MFKI and FFKI to existing measures, as there is little published literature exploring such tests and a lack of overarching theoretical framework exploring the internal structure of fertility knowledge. Overall, the findings provide initial support for the validity and reliability of the MFKI and FFKI as measures of fertility knowledge in populations of reproductive age, offering a useful tool for clinical and research purposes.

References

- Abiodun, O., Alausa, K., & Olasehinde, O. (2016). Ignorance could hurt: an assessment of fertility awareness, childbirth intentions and parenting attitudes among university students. *International Journal of Adolescent Medical Health*, *30*(2). doi: 10.1515/ijamh-2016-0091
- ABS. (2009). Births Australia 2008. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- ABS. (2010). One for the country: recent trends in fertility (pp. 1-5). Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- ABS. (2016). Births, Australia, 2015. Retrieved August 31, 2018, from http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats%5Cabs@.nsf/0/8668A9A0D4B0156CCA25792F0016186 A?Opendocument.
- AIHW. (2017). Australia's mothers and babies 2015: in brief perinatal statistics. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.
- Almeida-Santos, T., Melo, C., Macedo, A., & Moura-Ramos, M. (2017). Are women and men well informed about fertility? Childbearing intentions, fertility knowledge and information-gathering sources in Portugal. *Reproductive Health*, 14(1), 1-9. doi: 10.1186/s12978-017-0352-z
- Arya, S., & Dibb, B. (2016). The experience of infertility treatment: the male perspective. *Human Fertility*, *19*(4), 242-248. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2016.1222083
- Bann, C., McCormack, L., Berkman, N., & Squiers, L. (2012). The Health Literacy Skills
 Instrument: A 10-Item Short Form. *Journal of Health Communication*, *17*(S3), 191-202.
 doi: 10.1080/10810730.2012.718042
- Bodin, M., Kall, L., Tyden, T., Stern, J., Drevin, J., & Larsson, M. (2017). Exploring men's pregnancy-planning behaviour and fertility knowledge: a survey among fathers in

Sweden. Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences, 122(2), 127-135. doi: 10.1080/03009734.2017.1316531

- Boivin, J., Koert, E., Harris, T., O'Shea, L., Perryman, A., Parker, K., & Harrison, C. (2018). An experimental evaluation of the benefits and costs of providing fertility information to adolescents and emerging adults. *Human Reproduction*, *33*(7), 1247-1253. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey107
- Bretherick, K., Fairbrother, N., Avila, L., Harbord, S., & Robinson, W. (2010). Fertility and aging: do reproductive-aged Canadian women know what they need to know? *Infertility*, 93(7), 2162-2171. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.01.064
- Bunting, L., & Boivin, J. (2008). Knowledge about infertility risk factors, fertility myths and illusory benefits of healthy habits in young people. *Human Reproduction*, 23(8), 1858-1864. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den168
- Bunting, L., Tsibulsky, I., & Boivin, J. (2013). Fertility knowledge and beliefs about fertility treatment: findings from the International Fertility Decision-Making Study. *Human Reproduction*, 28(2), 385-397. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des402
- Cattell, R. (1978). *The scientific use of factor analysis in behvioural and life sciences*. New York, NY: Plenum Press.
- Chan, C., Chan, T., Peterson, B., Lampic, C., & Tam, M. (2015). Intentions and attitudes towards parenthood and fertility awareness among Chinese university students in Hong Kong: a comparison with Western samples. *Human Reproduction*, 30(2), 364-372. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu324
- Chan, E. (2014). Standards and guidelines for validation practices: development and evaluation of measurement instruments. In B. Zumbo & E. Chan (Eds.), *Validity and validation in social, behavioural, and health sciences* (pp. 9-26). London, United Kingdom: Springer.

- Conceicao, C., Pedro, J., & Martins, M. V. (2017). Effectiveness of a video intervention on fertility knowledge among university students: a randomised pre-test/post-test study. *European Journal of Contraception & Reproductive Health Care, 22*(2), 107-113. doi: 10.1080/13625187.2017.1288903
- Converse, J., & Presser, S. (1986). Survey questions: handcrafting the standardised questionnaire. Beverly Hills, California: Sage.
- Costello, A., & Osborne, J. (2005). Best practices in exploratory factor analysis: four recommendations for getting the most from your analysis. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 10*(7), 1-9.
- Courville, T. (2004). An empirical comparison of item response theory and classical test theory item/person statistics. (Doctoral thesis), A&M University, Texas. Retrieved from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/4268525.pdf
- Cureton, E. (1957). The upper and lower twenty-seven per cent rule. *Psychometrika*, *22*(3), 293-296. doi: doi.org/10.1007/BF02289130
- Daniluk, J. C., & Koert, E. (2012). Childless Canadian men's and women's childbearing intentions, attitudes towards and willingness to use assisted human reproduction. *Human Reproduction*, 27(8), 2405-2412. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des190
- Daniluk, J. C., & Koert, E. (2013). The other side of the fertility coin: a comparison of childless men's and women's knowledge of fertility and assisted reproductive technology. *Fertility and Sterility*, *99*(3), 839-846. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.10.033
- Daniluk, J. C., & Koert, E. (2015). Fertility awareness online: the efficacy of a fertility education website in increasing knowledge and changing fertility beliefs. *Human Reproduction*, 30(2), 353-363. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu328

- Daniluk, J. C., & Koert, E. (2016). Childless women's beliefs and knowledge about oocyte freezing for social and medical reasons. *Human Reproduction*, 31(10), 2313-2320. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew189
- Daumler, D., Chan, P., Lo, K. C., Takefman, J., & Zelkowitz, P. (2016). Men's knowledge of their own fertility: a population-based survey examining the awareness of factors that are associated with male infertility. *Human Reproduction*, 31(12), 2781-2790. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew265
- De Vellis, R. (2012). *Scale development: theory and applications*. United States of America: SAGE Publications. Inc.
- De Walt, D., Berkman, N., Sheridan, S., & Pignone, M. (2004). Literacy and health outcomes. A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *19*(12), 1228-1239.
- Ebel, R., & Frisbie, D. (1991). *Essentials of educational measurement* (5th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Everitt, B. (1975). Multivariate analysis: the need for data, and other problems. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *126*, 237-240.
- Fan, X. (1998). Item response theory and classical test theory: An empirical comparison of their item/person statistics. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 58(3), 357-381. doi: 10.1177/0013164498058003001
- Fisher, W., Fisher, J., & Harman, J. (2003). The Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Model:
 A General Social Psychological Approach to Understanding and Promoting Health
 Behavior. In J. Suls & J. Harman (Eds.), *Social Psychological Foundations of Health and Illness* (pp. 82-106). Victoria, Australia: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

- Fulford, B., Bunting, L., Tsibulsky, I., & Boivin, J. (2013). The role of knowledge and perceived susceptibility in intentions to optimize fertility: findings from the International Fertility Decision-Making Study (IFDMS). *Human Reproduction, 28*(12), 3253-3262. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det373
- Galhardo, A., Pinto-Gouveia, J., Cunha, J., & Matos, M. (2011). The impact of shame and self-judgment on psychopathology in infertile patient. *Human Reproduction, 26*(9), 2408-2414. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der209
- Gana, K., & Jakubowska, S. (2016). Relationship between infertility-related stress and emotional distress and marital satisfaction. *Journal of Health Psychology, 21*(6), 1043-1054. doi: 10.1177/1359105314544990
- Garcia, D., Vassena, R., Prat, A., & Vernaeve, V. (2016). Increasing fertility knowledge and awareness by tailored education: a randomized controlled trial. *Reproductive Biomedicine Online*, 32(1), 113-120. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2015.10.008
- Giles, D. (2008). Advanced Research Methods in Psychology. London, United Kingdom: Taylor& Francis Group.
- Goodhue, D., & Loiacono, E. (2002). *Randomizing survey question order vs. grouping questions by construct: an empirical test of the impact on apparent reliabilities and links to related constructs.* Paper presented at the International Conference on System Sciences, Hawaii.

Gorsuch, R. (1983). Factor Analysis (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Grant, J., & Davis, L. (1997). Selection and use of content experts in instrument development. *Research in Nursing & Health, 20*(3), 269-274.
- Grunfeld, E., Hunter, M., Ramirez, & Richards, M. (2003). Perceptions of breast cancer across the lifespan. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *54*(2), 141-146.

- Hair, J., Black, W., Babin, B., Anderson, R., & Tatham, R. (2006). *Multivariate data analysis* (Vol. 6). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Hammarberg, K., Zosel, R., Comoy, C., Robertson, S., Holden, C., Deeks, M., & Johnson, L.
 (2017). Fertility-related knowledge and information-seeking behaviour among people of reproductive age: a qualitative study. *Human Fertility (Cambridge), 20*(2), 88-95. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2016.1245447
- Hampton, K., & Mazza, D. (2015). Fertility-awareness knowledge, attitudes and practices of women attending general practice. *Australian Family Physician*, 44(11), 840-845.
- Hampton, K., Mazza, D., & Newton, J. (2013). Fertility-awareness knowledge, attitudes, and practices of women seeking fertility assistance. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(5), 1076-1084. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06095.x
- Hardesty, D., & Bearden, W. (2004). The use of expert judges in scale development implications for improving face validity of measures of unobservable constructs. *Journal of Business Research*, 57(2), 89-107. doi: 10.1016/S0148-2963(01)00295-8
- Hendrie, G., Cox, D., & Coveney, J. (2008). Validation of the General Nutrition Knowledge
 Questionnaire in an Australian community sample. *Nutrition & Dietetics*, 65(1), 72-77.
 doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0080.2007.00218.x
- Hewlett, S. (2004). Fast-track women and the quest for children. *Fertility and Sterility*, *81*, 15-18. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(03)01137-3
- Heywood, W., Pitts, M., Patrick, K., & Mitchell, A. (2016). Fertility knowledge and intentions to have children in a national study of Australian secondary school students. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 40(5), 462-467. doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12562
- Hinkin, T. (1995). A review of scale development practices in the study of organizations. *Journal of Management, 21*(5), 967-988. doi: 10.1177/014920639502100509.

- Hinkin, T. (1998). A brief tutorial on the development of measures for use in survey questionnaires. *Organizational Research Methods*, 1(1), 104-121. doi: 10.1177/109442819800100106
- Hinkle, D., Wiersma, W., & Jurs, S. (2003). *Applied Statistics for the Behavioural Sciences* (5th ed.). Boston, United States of America: Houghton Mifflin.
- Holton, S., Hammarberg, K., Rowe, H., Kirkman, M., Jordan, L., McNamee, K., Bayly, C., McBain, J., Sinnott, V., & Fisher, J. (2016). Men's fertility-related knowledge and attitudes, and childbearing desires, expectations and outcomes: findings from the understanding fertility management in contemporary Australia survey. *International Journal of Men's Health*, 15(3), 315-328. doi: 10.3149/jmh.1503.215
- Howard, M. (2016). A Review of Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) Decisions and Overview of Current Practices: What We Are Doing and How Can We Improve? *International Journal* of Human-Computer Interaction, 32(1), 51. doi: 10.1080/10447318.2015.1087664
- Klemetti, R., Raitanen, J., Sihvo, S., Saarni, S., & Koponen, P. (2010). Infertility, mental disorders and well-being – a nationwide survey. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 89(5), 677-682. doi: 10.3109/00016341003623746
- Kline, T. (2005). *Psychological testing: a practical approach to design and evaluation*. California, United States of America: SAGE Publications.
- Kudesia, R., Chernyak, E., & McAvey, B. (2017). Low fertility awareness in United States reproductive-aged women and medical trainees: creation and validation of the Fertility & Infertility Treatment Knowledge Score (FIT-KS). *Fertility and Sterility, 108*(4), 711-717. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.07.1158

- Lampic, C., Svanberg, A., Karlstrom, P., & Tyden, T. (2006). Fertility awareness, intentions concerning childbearing, and attitudes towards parenthood among female and male academics. *Human Reproduction*, 21(2), 558-564. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dei367
- Lavrakas, P. (2008). Respondent Burden. In P. Lavrakas (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Survey Research Methods*. California, United States of America: Sage Publications Inc.
- Lucas, N., Rosario, R., & Shelling, A. (2015). New Zealand university students' knowledge of fertility decline in women via natural pregnancy and assisted reproductive technologies.
 Human Fertility, 18(3), 208-214. doi: 10.3109/14647273.2015.1006694
- Maeda, E., Nakamura, F., Boivin, J., Kobayashi, Y., Sugimori, H., & Saito, H. (2016). Fertility knowledge and the timing of first childbearing: a cross-sectional study in Japan. *Human Fertility (Cambridge)*, 19(4), 275-281. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2016.1239033
- Maeda, E., Nakamura, F., Kobayashi, Y., Boivin, J., Sugimori, H., Murata, K., & Saito, H. (2016). Effects of fertility education on knowledge, desires and anxiety among the reproductive-aged population: findings from a randomized controlled trial. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(9), 2051-2060. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew133
- Maeda, E., Sugimori, H., Nakamura, F., Kobayashi, Y., Green, J., Suka, M., Okamoto, M.,
 Boivin, J., & Saito, H. (2015). A cross sectional study on fertility knowledge in Japan,
 measured with the Japanese version of Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale (CFKS-J). *Reproductive Health, 12*, 10. doi: 10.1186/1742-4755-12-10
- McCormack, L., Bann, C., Squiers, L., Berkman, N., Squire, C., Shillimger, D., Ohene-Frempong, J., & Hibbard, J. (2010). Measuring Health Literacy: A Pilot Study of a New Skills-Based Instrument. *Journal of Health Communication*, *15*(S2), 51-71. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2010.499987

- Meissner, C., Schippert, C., & von Versen-Hoynck, F. (2016). Awareness, knowledge, and perceptions of infertility, fertility assessment, and assisted reproductive technologies in the era of oocyte freezing among female and male university students. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, *33*(6), 719-729. doi: 10.1007/s10815-016-0717-1
- Miles, L., Keitel, M., Jackson, M., Harris, A., & Licciardi, F. (2009). Predictors of distress in women being treated for infertility. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 27(3), 238-257. doi: 10.1080/02646830802350880
- Mogilevkina, I., Stern, J., Melnik, D., Getsko, E., & Tyden, T. (2016). Ukrainian medical students' attitudes to parenthood and knowledge of fertility. *European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care, 21*(2), 189-194. doi: 10.3109/13625187.2015.1130221

Morgado, F., Meireles, J., Neves, C., Amaral, A., & Ferreira, M. (2018). Scale development: ten main limitations and recommendations to improve future research practices. *Psicologia: Reflexão e Crítica*, 30(1), 1-20. doi: 10.1186/s41155-016-0057-1

- Mortensen, L., Hegaard, H., Andersen, A., & Bentzen, J. (2012). Attitudes towards motherhood and fertility awareness among 20-40-year-old female healthcare professionals. *European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care, 17*(6), 468-481. doi: 10.3109/13625187.2012.728015
- Mu, Q. (2017). The Development and Psychometric Analysis of the MU- Fertility Knowledge Assessment Scale. (Doctoral thesis), Marquette University, Wisconsin. Retrieved from https://epublications.marquette.edu/dissertations_mu/744/
- Na Nakhon, S., Limvorapitux, P., & Vichinsartvichai, P. (2018). Knowledge regarding factors that influence fertility in Thai reproductive-age population living in urban area: A cross-

sectional study. *Clinical and Experimental Reproductive Medicine*, *45*(1), 38-43. doi: 10.5653/cerm.2018.45.1.38

Nouri, K., Huber, D., Walch, K., Promberger, R., Buerkle, B., Ott, J., & Tempfer, C. B. (2014).
 Fertility awareness among medical and non-medical students: a case-control study.
 Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology, *12*, 94. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-12-94

Nunnally, J. (1967). Psychometric Theory. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.

- Nunnally, J., & Bernstein, I. (1994). Psychometric theory. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Osborne, J. (2014). *Best practices in exploratory factor analysis*. Scotts Valley, California: CreateSpace Independent Publishing.
- Parmenter, K., & Wardle, J. (1999). Development of a general nutrition knowledge questionnaire for adults. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 53(4), 298.
- Peterson, B., Pirritano, M., Tucker, L., & Lampic, C. (2012). Fertility awareness and parenting attitudes among American male and female undergraduate university students. *Human Reproduction*, 27(5), 1375-1382. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des011
- Peterson, B., Sejbaek, C., Pirritano, M., & Schmidt, L. (2014). Are severe depressive symptoms associated with infertility-related distress in individuals and their partner? *Human Reproduction*, 29(1), 76-82. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det412
- Polit, D., & Beck, C. (2006). The content validity index: are you sure you know what's being reported? Critique and recommendations. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 29(5), 489-497. doi: 10.1002/nur.20147
- Prior, E., Lew, R., Hammarberg, K., & Johnson, L. (2018). Fertility facts, figures and future plans: an online survey of university students. *Human Fertility (Cambridge)*, 1-8. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2018.1482569

- Righarts, A., Dickson, N. P., Parkin, L., & Gillett, W. R. (2017). Ovulation monitoring and fertility knowledge: Their relationship to fertility experience in a cross-sectional study. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *57*(4), 412-419. doi: 10.1111/ajo.12606
- Rubio, D., Berg-Weger, M., Tebb, S., Lee, E., & Rauch, S. (2003). Objectifying content validity: conducting a content validity study in social work research. *National Association of Social Workers*, 27(2), 94-104.
- Sorensen, N., Marcussen, S., Backhausen, M., Juhl, M., Schmidt, L., Tyden, T., & Hegaard, H.
 (2016). Fertility awareness and attitudes towards parenthood among Danish university college students. *Reproductive Health*, *13*(1), 1-10. doi: 10.1186/s12978-016-0258-1
- Swift, B. E., & Liu, K. E. (2014). The effect of age, ethnicity, and level of education on fertility awareness and duration of infertility. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada*, 36(11), 990-996. doi: 10.1016/s1701-2163(15)30412-6

Tabachnick, B., & Fidell, L. (2001). Using multivariate statistics. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

- Ter Keurst, A., Boivin, J., & Gameiro, S. (2016). Women's intentions to use fertility preservation to prevent age-related fertility decline. *Reproductive Biomedicine Online*, 32(1), 121-131. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2015.10.007
- Vassard, D., Lallemant, C., Nyboe Andersen, A., Macklon, N., & Schmidt, L. (2016). A population-based survey on family intentions and fertility awareness in women and men in the United Kingdom and Denmark. *Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences*, 1-8. doi: 10.1080/03009734.2016.1194503
- Vujcic, I., Radicevic, T., Dubljanin, E., Maksimovic, N., & Grujicic, S. (2017). Serbian medical students' fertility awareness and attitudes towards future parenthood. *European Journal of*
Contraception and Reproductive Health Care, 22(4), 291-297. doi:

10.1080/13625187.2017.1368478

- Widaman, K. (1993). Common factor-analysis versus principal component analysis-differential bias in representing model parameters. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 28(3), 263-311.
- Williamson, L. E., Lawson, K. L., Downe, P. J., & Pierson, R. A. (2014). Informed reproductive decision-making: the impact of providing fertility information on fertility knowledge and intentions to delay childbearing. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada*, 36(5), 400-405. doi: 10.1016/s1701-2163(15)30585-5
- Wilson, E., & Lankton, N. (2012). Some unfortunate consequences of non-randomised, groupeditem survey administration in IS research. Paper presented at the International Conference on Information Systems, Orlando.
- Wischmann, T., Korge, K., Scherg, H., Strowitzi, T., & Verres, R. (2012). A 10-year follow-up study of psychosocial factors affecting couples after infertility treatment. *Human Reproduction*, 27(11), 3226-3232. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des293
- Wojcieszek, A. M., & Thompson, R. (2013). Conceiving of change: a brief intervention increases young adults' knowledge of fertility and the effectiveness of in vitro fertilization. *Fertility* and Sterility, 100(2), 523-529. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.03.050

Appendices

Appendix A

Abstract submitted and accepted to the Undergraduate Research Conference (July 2018)

Rationale: involuntary childlessness and infertility remain global public health issues, with couples experiencing complicated grief and loss, and feelings of depression, anxiety and disempowerment. Previous research reveals poor understanding of natural age-related fertility decline and risk factors for infertility in male and female populations, resulting in preventable, or at least modifiable, fertility issues. According to the Information-Motivation-Behavioural Skills Model, knowledge is an initial prerequisite for enacting a health behaviour.

Research question/focus: to date, two measures are commonly used to assess people's fertility knowledge, both of which have not been suitably tested for validity and reliability. Both fail to measure a broad range of knowledge related to lifestyle factors affecting fertility, common misconceptions about infertility and basic knowledge of infertility treatments. Furthermore, they do not differentiate between male and female infertility risks, despite a substantial body of evidence indicating the influence of both male and female health in conception. The focus of this research is to develop two psychometrically sound measures specific to knowledge about male and female fertility.

Research methodology: people of reproductive age participated in a quantitative crosssectional research study. The new measures will be assessed using item and scale content validity indexes, item difficulty and discrimination analyses and biserial correlation. The dimensional characteristics of the measures will be determined using Exploratory Factor Analysis. Subsequently analysis of internal consistency and tests of convergent, divergent and concurrent validity will be undertaken. Preliminary findings will be presented.

Significant and originality of findings: this project develops two measures that future researchers can use to reliably quantify what people know about fertility. Psychometrically strong measures will enable researchers to accurately assess fertility knowledge and to explore how such knowledge, together with motivation and behavioural skills, may be able to minimise the risk of involuntary childlessness due to modifiable fertility issues.

Appendix B

Search terms used to identify existing measures of fertility understandings

PubMed Logic Grid

AND	
Understanding of fertility	Measurement
fertility knowledge [tiab] OR	scale* [tiab] OR inventor* [tiab] OR question* [tiab]
fertility awareness [tiab]	OR measure* [tiab] OR survey* [tiab] OR instrument*
	[tiab] OR checklist* [tiab] or schedule* [tiab]

PsychINFO Logic Grid	
AND	\Longrightarrow
Understanding of fertility	Measurement
fertility knowledge.ti,ab OR	scale*.ti,ab OR inventor*.ti,ab OR question*.ti,ab OR
fertility awareness.ti,ab	measure*.ti,ab OR survey*.ti,ab OR instrument*: ti,ab
	OR checklist*:ti,ab OR schedule*:ti,ab

CINAHL Logic Grid

AND [\Longrightarrow
Understanding of fertility	Measurement
TI fertility knowledge OR TI	TI scale* OR TI inventor* OR TI question* OR TI
fertility awareness OR AB	measure* OR TI survey* OR TI instrument* OR TI
fertility knowledge OR AB	checklist* OR TI schedule* OR AB scale* OR AB
fertility awareness	inventor** OR AB question* OR AB measure* OR
	AB survey* OR AB instrument* OR AB checklist*
	OR AB schedule*

Appendix C

Expert evaluation: instructions for item evaluation (of items in Tables 5 and 6) and demographic items

We are developing measures to assess a person's fertility knowledge, defined as one's level of understanding regarding male and female fertility decline, risk factors for poor fertility, and a basic awareness of infertility treatment.

Involuntary childlessness and infertility remain global public health issues. As more people delay childbearing and/or experience infertility difficulties, the need for reliable and valid measures of fertility knowledge has greater significance as previous research reveals poor understanding of these concepts in study populations resulting in preventable, or at the very least, modifiable, fertility issues.

You are being asked to serve as a content expert because of your knowledge and skills in the area of infertility. Your participation in the review process of the measures is valuable as a preliminary step to future studies that investigate fertility-related knowledge in a range of populations and to enable the development and evaluation of fertility-related health promotions programs.

The measures consist of questions related to the dimensions of (1) age-related fertility decline, (2) biological, reproductive and lifestyle risks, (3) misconceptions about fertility, and (4) infertility assessment and treatment for both males and females. In the final measure, fertility knowledge will be assessed with three response options for each item, True, False, or Don't Know.

Please take the time to evaluate each question for:

- <u>Medical accuracy</u> In judging medical accuracy please indicate, <u>Yes/No</u>, as to whether each question is accurate according to the medical literature, with regards to your understanding and the clinical recommendations you would give to a client in your practice.
- <u>Relevance</u> In judging relevance please indicate how relevant, <u>not relevant/somewhat</u> <u>relevant/quite relevant/highly relevant</u>, the information in each question is for people to know in relation to fertility and conception.
- 3. <u>Clarity</u> In judging clarity please indicate how clearly each question is worded, <u>not</u> <u>clear/needs major revision to be clear/needs minor revision to be clear/item is clear</u>. For questions considered to lack clarity please advise of any jargon that should be avoided, or if there are any terms for which a definition should be provided. If so, please specify which terms would benefit from including a definition.

Providing information about medical accuracy, relevance and clarity will be useful in refining the measures. Finally, please respond to the questions relating to comprehensiveness of the measures with suggestions for the addition or deletion of any questions. We thank you in advance for your assistance.

Demographic items

- 1. Are you: male/female/other (please specify)
- 2. What is your age (in years)? (open response)
- 3. How long have you been employed in specialist infertility services? (open response)
- 4. In what role are you employed? (open response)
- 5. I consent to the researchers contacting me in the event they would like to clarify my response to an item in this survey.

6. I consent to the researchers contacting me in the event they would like to request I briefly review the measures if substantial revisions, deletions or additions have been made based on the feedback from the first survey of health professionals.

Appendix D

Pilot study: instructions for item evaluation (of items in Tables 5 and 6)

We are developing measures to assess a person's fertility knowledge, defined as one's level of understanding regarding male and female fertility decline, risk factors for poor fertility, and a basic awareness of infertility treatment. Involuntary childlessness and infertility remain global public health issues. As more people delay childbearing and/or experience infertility difficulties, the need for reliable and valid measures of fertility knowledge has greater significance as previous research reveals poor understanding of these concepts in study populations resulting in preventable, or at the very least, modifiable, fertility issues.

To ensure the questions can be easily understood by people who might complete them in the future, you are being asked to provide feedback about the clarity and acceptability of the proposed questions. Your participation in the review process of the measures is valuable as a preliminary step to future studies that will be able to investigate fertility-related knowledge in a range of populations and to enable the development and evaluation of fertility-related health promotions programs.

The measures of fertility knowledge consist of questions related to both male and female fertility. In the final measure, fertility knowledge will be assessed with 3 response options for each item: True, False, or Don't Know.

Please take the time to evaluate each question for:

- <u>Clarity</u>: in judging clarity, please indicate how clearly each question is worded, <u>not</u> <u>clear/needs major revision to be clear/needs minor revision to be clear/item is clear</u>. For questions considered to lack clarity, please advise of any jargon that should be avoided, or if there are any terms for which a definition should be provided. If so, please specify which terms would benefit from including a definition.
- 2. <u>Acceptability</u>: in judging acceptability, please indicate "<u>acceptable</u>" if the question is acceptable and is not offensive, and "<u>not acceptable</u>" if the question is not acceptable and there are any terms in the question by which you may be offended. For questions considered unacceptable, please specify which terms would benefit from being amended.

Providing information about clarity and acceptability will be useful in refining the measures.

Finally, please respond to the questions relating to comprehensiveness of the measures with suggestions for the addition or deletion of any questions. <u>At the end of the questionnaire, we will ask several questions relating to your own reproductive intentions.</u> The researchers acknowledge that asking about trying to conceive and pregnancy status is very personal, but the questions are asked as they may influence a person's fertility knowledge. We thank you in advance for your assistance.

Appendix E

Validation study: instructions and scales (correct responses as indicated or marked in bold type

Below are some statements concerning fertility. Please indicate whether you believe they are "true" or "false" by ticking the appropriate box. If you do not know the answer, please tick "I don't know". As this is a test of your knowledge, please do not feel inclined to look up the answer for any question as we would like to have an accurate measure of your knowledge.

Attachment: 31-item Male and Female Fertility Knowledge Inventories (items as indicated in Table 5 and 6).

GENERAL NUTRITION KNOWLEDGE QUESTIONNAIRE				
This is a survey, not a test. Your	answers will	help identif	y which die	tary advice
people find confusing. It is importa	nt that you c	omplete it by	yourself. Yo	our answers
will remain anonymous. If you don	't know the a	nswer, mark	x "not sure"	rather than
guess. Thank you for your time.				
Section 1: The first few items are a	bout what ad	lvice you this	nk experts a	re giving us.
1. Do health experts recommend that	people should	d be eating m	ore, the same	e amount, or less
of the following foods? (tick one be	ox per food)			
	More	Same	Less	Not Sure
Fruit	\checkmark			
Food and drinks with added sugar			\checkmark	
Vegetables	\checkmark			
Fatty foods			\checkmark	
Processed red meat			\checkmark	
Wholegrains	\checkmark			
Salty foods			\checkmark	
Water	\checkmark			
2. How many servings of fruit and v	egetables per	day do expe	erts advise p	eople to eat as a
minimum? (One serving could be,	for example,	an apple or a	a handful of	chopped carrots)
(tick one)	-			/
2				
3				
4				
5 or more	\checkmark			
Not sure				
3. Which of these types of fats do exp box per food)	erts recomme	nd that peopl	e should eat	less of? (tick one
economy Automatical Z	Eat less	Not eat	Not sure	
		less		
Unsaturated fats		\checkmark		

Trans fats Saturated fats	× ×			
4. Which type of dairy foods do experts s	say peo	ple should drir	ık? (tick one)	
 Full fat (e.g. full fat milk) Reduced fat (e.g. skimmed and semi- skimmed milk) Mixture of full fat and reduced fat Neither, dairy foods should be avoided Not sure 5. How many times per week do experts to 	✓ □ □ □	nend that peop	le eat oily fish (e.	g. salmon and
mackerel)? (tick one)				
 1-2 times per week 3-4 times per week Every day Not sure Approximately how many alcoholic d 	✓ □ □ lrinks i	s the maximu	n recommended	per day (The
exact number depends on the size and	strengtl	n of the drink)	? (tick one)	P
1 drink each for men and women 2 drinks each for men and women 2 drinks for men and 1 drink for women 3 drinks for men and 2 drinks for women Not sure				
7. How many times per week do experts a	recomn	nend that peop	le eat breakfast?	(tick one)
 3 times per week 4 times per week Every day Not sure 8. If a person has two glasses of fruit juice servings would this count as? (tick one 	□ ✓ □ e in a da	y, how many o	f their daily fruit	and vegetable
None				
One serving Two servings Three servings Not sure 9. According to the 'eatwell guide' (a gui should eat to have a balanced and health	✓ □ □ deline s hy diet)	showing the pr	oportions of food a person's diet sh	l types people nould be made
up of starchy foods? (tick one)				
Quarter Third Half Not sure	□ ✓ □			
Section 2: Experts classify foods into groups. We are interested to see whether people are aware of food groups and the nutrients they contain.				

1.	Do you think these foods and drinks are typically high or low in added sugar? (tick one box per food)				
Diet Natu Ice c Tom Melo	cola drinks tral yoghurt tream ato ketchup on	High in added sugar □ ✓ ✓ ✓	Low in added sugar ✓ □ □ ↓	Not sure	
2.	Do you think these foods are ty	pically high or	low in salt?	(tick one box per food)	
Brea Froz Brea Bake Red Can	kfast cereals en vegetables d ed beans meat ned soup	High in salt ✓ □ ✓ ✓ ✓	Low in salt ✓ □ ↓ ✓	Not Sure	
3.	Do you think these foods are ty	pically high or	low in fibre	? (tick one box per food)
Oats Bana Whit Eggs Pota Pasta	anas te rice s toes with skin a	High in fibre ✓ □ □ ✓ □	Low in fibre □ ✓ ✓ □ ✓	Not Sure	
4.	Do you think these foods are a	good source of	f protein? (ti	ck one box per food)	
Poul Chee Fruit Bake Butte Nuts 5.	try ese t ed beans er Which of the following foods do	Good source of protein ✓ ✓ □ ✓ □ ✓	Not a good source of protein	Not sure	food)
Chee Pasta	ese	Starchy food □ ✓	Not a starchy food ✓	Not sure	

Potato Nuts Planta	es ins		✓ □ ✓	□ ✓		
6.	Which is the n	nain type of fat pre	sent in each o	f these foods	? (tick one boy	k per food)
		Polyunsaturated fat	Monounsa t-urated fat	Saturated fat	Cholester ol	Not sure
Olive Butter Sunflo Eggs	oil ower oil					
7.	Which of thes	e foods has the mo	st trans-fat? (1	tick one)		
	Biscuits, cakes Fish Rapeseed oil Eggs Not sure	and pastries				
8.	The amount of (tick one)	f calcium in a glass	s of whole mil	k compared t	o a glass of sk	immed milk is:
	About the sam Much higher Much lower Not sure	e				
9.	Which one of (tick one)	the following nutr	ients has the r	nost calories	for the same v	veight of food?
	Sugar Starchy Fibre/roughage Fat Not sure	2				
10.	Compared to 1	ninimally processe	ed foods, proc	essed foods a	re: (tick one)	
	Higher in calor Higher in fibre Lower in salt Not sure	ries	✓ □ □			
1.	If a person w	ction 3: The next f	few items are	about choos upermarket.	sing foods which would	have the least
	sugar/sweeten	er? (tick one)	Sar a ur b	aponiminot,		all to the found
0% fat Natura Cream Not su	t cherry yogurt al yogurt ny fruit yogurt ure					

2. If a person wanted soup in a restaurant or cafe, which one wo (tick one)	uld be the lowest fat option?
Mushroom risotto soup (field mushrooms, porcini mushrooms, arborio rice, butter, cream, parsley and cracked black pepper)	
Carrot butternut and spice soup (carrot, butternut squash, sweet potato, cumin, red chillies, coriander seeds and lemon)	✓
Cream of chicken soup (British chicken, onions, carrots, celery, potatoes, garlic, sage, wheat flour, double cream)	
Not sure	
3. Which would be the healthiest and most balanced choice for (tick one)	a main meal in a restaurant?
Roast turkey, mashed potatoes and vegetables Beef, Yorkshire pudding and roast potatoes Fish and chips served with peas and tartar sauce Not sure	✓ □ □
4. Which would be the healthiest and most balanced sandwich	lunch? (tick one)
Ham sandwich + fruit + blueberry muffin + fruit juice Tuna salad sandwich + fruit + low fat yogurt + water Egg salad sandwich + crisps + low fat yogurt + water Not sure	
5. Which of these foods would be the healthiest choice for a pu	dding? (tick one)
Berry sorbet Apple and blackberry pie Lemon cheesecake Carrot cake with cream cheese topping Not sure 6. Which of these combinations of vegetables in a salad would vitamins and antioxidants? (tick one)	✓ □ □ I give the greatest variety of
Lettuce, green peppers and cabbage Broccoli, carrot and tomatoes Red peppers, tomatoes and lettuce Not sure	1
7. chips, which of the following foods would be the best choice?	, but didn't want to give up ? (tick one)
Thick cut chips ✓ Thin cut chips □ Crinkle cut chips □ Not sure □ 8. One healthy way to add flavour to food without adding extra factors	at or salt is to add: (tick one)
Coconut milk□Herbs✓Soya sauce□	

Not sure	
9. Which of the following cooking methods re	equires fat to be added? (tick one)
Grilling Steaming Baking Sautéing Not sure 10. Traffic lights are often used on nutrition l content of a food? (tick one)	□ □ ✓ abelling, what would amber mean for the fat
Low fat Medium fat High in fat Not sure 11. "Light" foods (or Diet foods) are always go	 □ ✓ □ □
(tick one)	
Agree Disagree Not sure	□ ✓ □
The following questions are related to food labels	:
Product 1 (Sweet biscuit) Each biscuit (9.5g) contains:CaloriesSugarFatSaturatesSalt432g1g1g0.1g2%2%2%3%2%2%2%3%2%Typical value (as sold) per 100g: 450 KcalIngredient list: Oat flakes, sugar, palm oil, fortified wheat flour, whole wheat flour, fructose, malt syrup, salt, raising agents: sodium hydrogen carbonate, ammonium hydrogen carbonate, flavouring	Product 2 (Savoury biscuit) Each biscuit (16g) contains:CaloriesSugar 1gSaturates 3gSalt 0.3g661g3gTrace0.3g3%1%4%1%4%Typical value (as sold) per 100g: 412 KcalIngredient list: Wheat Flour, Palm Oil, Corn Syrup, Malt, Salt, Yeast, Leavening Agents (Sodium Bicarbonate, Ammonium Bicarbonate, Sodium Pyrophosphate), Corn Starch, Soy Lecithin, Sodium Metabisulphite (Baking Agent).
Looking at products 1 and 2, which one has	as the most calories (kcal) per 100 grams (tick
12. one)	
Product 1 Product 2 Both have the same quantity Not sure	
Looking at product 1, what are the s	ources of sugar in the ingredient list? (tick one)
Sugar and malt syrup	

Sugar, fructose and lecithin Sugar, fructose and malt syrup Not sure				
Section 4: This section is about health prol manage	Section 4: This section is about health problems or diseases related to diet and weight			
Which of these diseases is related to a low	intake of fibre? (tick one)			
Bowel disorders Anaemia Tooth decay Not sure	✓ □ □			
2. Which of these diseases is related to how n	nuch sugar people eat? (tick one)			
High blood pressure Tooth decay Anaemia Not sure	□ ✓ □			
3. Which of these diseases is related to how n	nuch salt (or sodium) people eat? (tick one)			
Hypothyroidism Diabetes High blood pressure Not sure Which of these options do experts recomm	□ ✓ □ to reduce the chances of getting cancer?			
4. (tick one)				
Drinking alcohol regularly Eating less red meat Avoiding additives in food Not sure				
5. Which of these options do experts recomm	end to prevent heart disease? (tick one)			
Taking nutritional supplements Eating less oily fish Eating less trans-fats Not sure	□ □ ✓			
6. Which of these options do experts recomm	end to prevent diabetes? (tick one)			
Eating less refined foods Drinking more fruit juice Eating more processed meat Not sure	✓ □ □			
7. Which one of these foods is more likely to	raise people's blood cholesterol? (tick one)			
Eggs Vegetable oils Animal fat Not sure				

8.	Which one of these foods is classified as having a high Glycaemic Index (Glycaemic Index is a measure of the impact of a food on blood sugar levels, thus a high Glycaemic Index means a greater rise in blood sugar after eating)? (tick one)				
Who white Fruit Not s	legrain cereals e bread and vegetables sure	□ ✓ □			
9.	To maintain a healthy weight people should	d cut fat out c	completely.	(tick one)	
Agre Disa Not s	e gree sure	□ ✓ □			
10.	To maintain a healthy weight people should	d eat a high p	rotein diet.	(tick one)	
Agre Disa Not s	e gree sure	□ ✓			
11.	Eating bread always causes weight gain. (t	ick one)			
Agre Disa Not S	e gree Sure	□ ✓			
12.	2. Fibre can decrease the chances of gaining weight. (tick one)				
Agre Disa Not s	e gree sure	✓ □ □			
13.	Which of these options can help people to	maintain a h	ealthy weig	ht? (answer each	one)
Not of Read Takin Mon Graz 14.	eating while watching TV ling food labels ng nutritional supplements itoring their eating itoring their weight ing throughout the day If someone has a Body Mass Index (BMI) (tick one)	Yes \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark \checkmark of 23kg/m ² ,	No □ ✓ □ ✓ what would	Not sure	tus be?
Unde	erweight nal weight				
Over Obes Not	weight se sure				
15.	If someone has a Body Mass Index (BMI) (tick one)) of 31kg/m ² ,	what would	d their weight sta	tus be?



Health Literacy Skills Instrument

Please answer the following questions based on information in the text provided. There are also several external links to websites that you will need to access in order to complete the following questions. Please ensure you open these links in a new tab on your web browser, and return to the survey once you have gathered the necessary information.

Cholesterol: What Your Level Means	Total cholesterol level
What is cholesterol?	• Less than 200 is best.
Cholesterol is a waxy substance the body uses	• 200 to 239 is borderline high.
to protect nerves, make cell tissues and produce	• 240 or more means a person is at increased
certain hormones.	risk for heart disease.

Are there different types of cholesterol?	LDL cholesterol levels		
Yes. Cholesterol travels through the blood in	• Below 100 is ideal for people who have a		
different types of packages, called lipoproteins.	higher risk of heart disease.		
Low-density lipoproteins (LDL) deliver	• 100 to 129 is near optimal.		
cholesterol to the body. High-density	• 130 to 159 is borderline high.		
lipoproteins (HDL) remove cholesterol from	• 160 or more means a person is at a higher risk		
the bloodstream.	for heart disease.		
	HDL cholesterol levels		
	• Less than 40 means a person is at higher risk		
	for heart disease.		
	• 60 or higher greatly reduces		

 Which set of low density lipoprotein (LDL) and high density lipoprotein (HDL) levels is best? (LDL of 134 and HDL of 61/LDL of 98 and HDL of 82/LDL of 140 and HDL of 50/LDL of 165 and HDL of 80/Not sure)

Please listen to the recording below before proceeding to the next screen.



If a person was worried about his cough, what number should he press? (1/2/4/Call 000/Not sure)





Which of the following entrances is closest to the elevator? (There is no elevator/Surgery & Outpatient Centre Entrance/Rehabilitation Institute Entrance/Main Entrance/Don't know)

lam	e:					Birth date:	
	What I'm Using Rx-brand & generic name; OTC-name & active ingredients	What It Looks Like color, shape, size, markings, etc.	How Much	How to Use / When to Use	Start / Stop Dates	Why I'm Using / Notes	Who Told Me to Use How to Contact
	Enter ALL	prescription (Rx) n	nedicine (in	clude samples), over	-the-coun	ter (OTC) medicine, and dietary	supplements
Ex	XXXXX/1000000000X	20 mg pill; small, white, round	40 mg; use two 20 mg pills	a day, at 8:00 am & 8:00 pm	1-15-06	Lowers blood pressure; check blood pressure once a week; blood test on 4-15-06	(800) 555-1212
1							
2							
3	-						
4							
6							
6	-						
7							
8		-			-		1

4. In the example listed in the first row of the table, when should the medicine be taken? (Two times a day anytime between 8 a.m. and 8 p.m./At 8 a.m. or 8 p.m. each day/At 8 a.m. and 8 p.m. each day/Don't know)

Please read the questions below, then visit the following website to answer the question. Answer the questions based on the information in the website (<u>https://www.cardiosmart.org/healthwise/tx43/94/tx4394</u>).

5. Kate weighs 150 pounds. Which activity would burn the most calories? (Walking at a medium pace for 30 minutes/Raking the lawn for 30 minutes/Bowling for 30 minutes/Don't know)

Signs of a Stroke

My mother is alive today because a police officer knew the signs of a stroke. You can save a life, too, if you learn these signs.

Mom was on her way to the dentist when a police officer noticed she was driving strangely and started to follow her. She pulled over on the highway. When the officer approached her, she told him she had a blinding headache. But she said that she had to get to her dentist appointment on time.

The officer also noticed that mom just wasn't acting right. Some of her speech was confused. And she was a little dizzy.

Mom said she felt fine, but that didn't stop the officer. He quickly called 911. That call saved my mother's life.

Knowing the signs of a stroke could help you save a life, too. Remember, some people have all of these signs, but my mom only had a few.

If you or someone else has even a few of these signs, get help fast!



Five Signs of a Stroke

- Sudden numbness or weakness of the face, arm or leg, especially on one side of the body
- Sudden confusion, trouble speaking or understanding
- Sudden trouble seeing in one or both eyes
- Sudden trouble walking, dizziness, or loss of balance
- Sudden, severe headache

American Stroke Prevention

 Which of the following is NOT a sign of a stroke? (Shaking chills/Blurred vision/Bad headache/Numbness on one side/Don't know)

Expanding portions

Are you eating a variety of healthy foods, exercising and still struggling with your weight? Some people may need to pay closer attention to portion control — managing the amount of food that they eat — as their total calorie intake determines their weight.

A serving isn't what they happen to put on their plate. It's a specific amount of food defined by common measurements, such as cups, ounces or pieces. The serving sizes represented here are part of the Mayo Clinic Healthy Weight Pyramid — a food pyramid designed to promote weight loss and long-term health. Use these serving sizes in conjunction with a diet based on a variety of healthy foods. Add the right amount of regular physical activity, and a person will be well on their way to enjoying good nutrition and controlling their weight.

Vegetables

Until they're comfortable judging serving sizes, you may need to use measuring cups and spoons. A half a cup of cooked carrots, for example, equals one serving. Here are the recommended serving sizes for other vegetables:

Food	Serving size	
Raw leafy vegetables	= 2 cups	19 m 1
Raw vegetables, chopped	= 1 cup	
Chopped, cooked or canned vegetables	= 1/2 cup	

Meat and beans

Familiar objects can help a person picture proper portions for meat, poultry, fish and beans. For example, a 3-ounce serving of fish is about the size of a deck of cards. Here are the serving sizes for meat and meat substitutes:

Food		Serving size	
Cooked skinless poultry or fish	-	3 ounces	
Cooked lean meat	=	1 1/2 ounces	
Cooked legumes or dried beans	=	1/2 cup or about the size of an ice cream scoop	
Egg	=	1 medium	
			- CUPERIGHT ODLE FOOD CONTERED THE DEED WITH PERINSEND

7. A person is cooking dinner for himself and he wants to include one serving from the meat and beans group. What should he choose? (1 ½ ounces of cooked lean beef/1 ½ ounces of cooked fish/3 boiled eggs/1 cup cooked kidney beans/Don't know)



Please watch the video below before proceeding to the next screen.

8. What parts of the body do lunge exercises work? (Arms and shoulders/Back and

abdomen/Legs and buttock/Don't know)

Nutrition Facts	* Percent Daily V diet. Your daily depending on y	/alues are ba values may l your calorie n	sed on a 2,0 be higher or eeds:	000 calorie Iower
		Calories:	2,000	2,500
Serving Size 140 grams (140g)	Total Fat	Less than	65g	80g
Servings Per Container 1	Saturated Fat	Less than	20g	25g
	Cholesterol	Less than	300m g	300mg
Amount Per Serving	Sodium	Less than	2,400mg	2,400mg
-	Total Carbohydr	ate	300g	375g
Calories 140 Calories from Fat 70	Dietary Fiber		25g	30g
% Daily Value*				
Total Fat 7g 11%				
Saturated Fat 2.5g 13%				
Trans Fat Og				
Cholesterol 25mg 8%				
Sodium 300mg 13%				
Total Carbohydrate 9g 3%				
Dietary Fiber 2g 8%				
Sugars 3g				
Protein 8g				
Vitamin A 10% • Vitamin C 20%				
Calcium 4% · Iron 10%				

Ingredients: Tomatoes; Chicken; Mushrooms; White Wine; Celery; Onions; Green Bell Pepper; Flour; Butter; Olive Oil; Salt; Black Pepper.

9. If a person is on a 2,500 calorie diet, what percent of the daily value of saturated fat

would he get from one serving? (**10 percent**/11 percent/12 percent/13 percent/Not sure)



Number of Men Out of 100 Who Die from Prostrate Cancer Versus Other Diseases

10. More men die from prostate cancer than from other causes. Based on the chart above, would you say this is true, false, or are you not sure? (True/False/Not sure)

Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire

This is not a knowledge test – we want to know what you believe.

- 1. At what age are women the most fertile? (open response) (Ans: 20-24 years)
- At what age is there a slight decrease in women's ability to become pregnant? (open response) (Ans: 27-28 years)
- 3. At what age is there a marked decrease in women's ability to become pregnant? (open response) (Ans: 37-38 years)
- 4. A young woman (<25 years) and a man have unprotected intercourse at the time of ovulation—how large is the chance that she will then become pregnant? (open response) (Ans: 30-35%)
- 5. A woman and a man who regularly have unprotected intercourse during a period of 1 year: How large is the chance that the woman will become pregnant

- a. If she is 25-30 years old? (open response) (Ans: 78%)
- b. If she is 35-40 years old? (open response) (Ans: 53%)
- How many couples in Australia are involuntarily childless? (open response) (Ans: 10-19%)
- Couples that undergo treatment with IVF what is their chance, on average, of getting a child after one treatment? (open response) (Ans: 25%)
- 8. What can have a negative impact on men's fertility?

Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale

Below are some statements concerning fertility. Please indicate whether you believe the statements are TRUE or FALSE of fertility by ticking the appropriate box. If you do not know the answer please tick DON'T KNOW.

- 1. A woman is less fertile after the age of 36 years. TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- When a couple cannot conceive it is usually due to a fertility problem in the woman. TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- A couple would be classified as infertile if they did not achieve a pregnancy after 1 year of regular sexual intercourse (without using contraception). TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- 4. Smoking decreases female fertility but not male fertility. TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- 5. About 1 in 10 couples are infertile. **TRUE**/FALSE/DON'TKNOW
- 6. If a man produces sperm he is fertile. TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- These days a woman in her 40s has a similar chance of getting pregnant as a woman in her 30s. TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- 8. Having a healthy lifestyle makes you fertile. TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW

- If a man has had mumps after puberty he is more likely to later have a fertility problem.
 TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- 10. A woman who never menstruates is still fertile. TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- 11. If a woman is overweight by more than 13 kg (28 pounds) then she may not be able to get pregnant. **TRUE**/FALSE/DON'T KNOW
- 12. If a man can achieve an erection then it is an indication that he is fertile.

TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW

13. People who have had a sexually transmitted disease are likely to have reduced fertility.

TRUE/FALSE/DON'T KNOW

Appendix F

Pilot and validation study: demographic and reproductive items

Reproductive information

Intention to have children

- 1. Do you have any children? YES/NO
- 2. How many children do you want? (open response)
- 3. At what age would you like to/did you have your first child? (open response)
- 4. At what age would you like to/did you have, your last child? (open response)

Importance of having children

5. How important is/was it for you to have children? (very important, important, moderately important, slightly important, not important)

Behavioural intention in case of infertility

- 6. What would you most likely do if you and your partner could not get pregnant? (undergo fertility treatment, foster a child, adopt a child, choose not to have a child)
- 7. How confident are you that you will have your desired number of children? (very confident, confident, moderately confident, slightly confident, not confident)
- 8. What have been your primary sources of information on fertility and reproduction? (books, magazines, brochures, newspapers, internet, videos, radio, television programs, public health centres, doctor, family members, friends, other)
- 9. How would you rate your knowledge of fertility and infertility issues? (not educated at all, somewhat educated, educated, very educated, extremely educated)
- Have you previously sought a medical consultation and/or treatment for your fertility? (this includes seeking advice from a doctor, undergoing fertility diagnostic testing,

ovulation induction, insemination, surgery and treatment with Assisted Reproductive

Technologies)

- 11. Are you currently trying to conceive? YES/NO
- 12. Are you currently pregnant? YES/NO

Demographic information

- 1. What is your age (in years)? (open response)
- 2. Are you: male/female/gender not listed
- 3. What country were you born in? (open response)
- 4. Which of the following best represents your ethnic heritage? (peoples' ethnicity describes their feeling of belonging and attachment to a distinct group of a larger population that shares their ancestry, colour, language or religion) (African, American (including Canadian, Mexican, Brazilian etc), Asian, Australian, European, Indigenous Australian, Maori or Pacific Islander, Middle Eastern, Middle Eastern, Other (please specify)).
- 5. What is your current relationship status? (Married/de facto/engaged, separated/divorced, in a relationship, single)
- 6. What is the highest level of education you have completed, or are currently completing? Open response, please answer this question with the type of degree (i.e., Apprenticeship, Bachelor, Honours, Masters), the area of study (i.e., medicine, health science, engineering), and year you are currently in (i.e., 1, 2, 3, completed).
- 7. Are you currently: employed full-time/employed part-time/unemployed/retired

Appendix G

Permission for use of the SFAQ, CFKS and HLSISF in the current study (NB. all scales are in the public domain excepting the HLSISF, no response received for enquiry to use the GNKQ)

From: Claudia Lampic [Claudia.Lampic@ki.se]
Sent: Monday, 16 April 2018 5:40:35 PM
To: XXXX
Subject: SV: Swedish Fertility Awareness Questionnaire
Dear XXXX
You are very welcome to use our measure in your research. Please find enclosed the
English versions of the full questionnaires for women and men.

Best regards, Claudia

From: Jacky Boivin [boivin@cardiff.ac.uk]

Sent: Tuesday, 17 April 2018 9:31 PM

To: XXXX

Subject: Re: Cardiff Fertility Knowledge Scale

Dear XXXX,

Yes XXXX can use the CFKS. The scale is in the appendix to the original paper

(Bunting). We have also amended it with two extra items (see Fertility Education VFKS) which was evaluated in the attached in press study (see Boivin Hum Reprod, attached). Please would you cite as indicated, if you use in your work. Your student might want to know that there is a very active group on Adelaide working on fertility education — with this fantastic website: https://yourfertility.org.au

Thanks for your interest, Jacky

From: hlsi@rti.org Sent: Monday, 16 April 2018 at 20:57 PM To: XXXX Subject: RE: Attn: Dr Lauren McCormack, HLSI-SF permission Dear XXXX,

Thank you kindly for your interest in the Health Literacy Skills Instrument. Dr. McCormack has received your message. We are more than happy to share a copy with you. We are asking all who request the instrument to please complete the attached User Registration form. Pleases return to me via email. Once I have your signed form, I will email you a copy of the instrument (with full 25 items and 10-items indicated) along with a User Guide. Please note that I will be out of the office today. Thank you again for your interest in the HLSI.

Best, Rebecca

Appendix H

Expert evaluation: participant information sheet and consent form

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Project Title: Development and validation of a male-specific and female-specific measure of fertility knowledge
School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee: 18/52
Principal Investigator: XXXX
Student Researcher: XXXX
Student's Degree: Bachelor of Psychology (Honours)

Dear Participant, You are invited to participate in the research project described below.

What is the project about?

This project aims to develop and validate one male-specific and one female-specific measure of fertility knowledge that may be used in future research and in the assessment of interventions designed to improve such knowledge.

Who is undertaking the project?

This project is being conducted by XXXX, forming the basis of her Honours degree in Psychology, under the supervision of XXXX.

Why am I being invited to participate?

This research will examine existing fertility knowledge measures and use this as a basis for the development of two new measures, designed to measure male and female-specific fertility knowledge. We are seeking infertility health professionals (medical specialists, scientists, nurses or counsellors) who have provided specialist infertility services for a minimum of 1 year, and who are fluent in English.

What am I being invited to do?

If you consent to participate, you will be invited to review the preliminary set of questions for both the male and female-specific fertility measures in an online survey. You will be asked to assess each preliminary question for its (1) medical accuracy, (2) relevance, and (3) clarity. Furthermore, to assess comprehensiveness you will be asked if there are any areas of fertility knowledge you feel have not been addressed in the survey which should be considered for inclusion. If you consent, the researchers may contact you to clarify your responses to particular items in the survey or to ask you to briefly review the measures again if substantial revisions, deletions or additions have been made based on the feedback from the first survey of health professionals.

How much time will my involvement in the project take?

The survey is anticipated to take approximately 40 minutes of your time.

Are there any risks associated with participating in this project?

It is not anticipated that you will experience any emotional distress as a result of participating in this study. However, you do have the option not to answer specific questions. Contact details for

support and helpline numbers are provided at the bottom of this information sheet.

What are the potential benefits of the research project?

This research will help to improve ways to measure fertility knowledge that is specific to both male and female aspects of fertility and is likely to improve the way in which we can accurately quantify fertility knowledge. Although you will not receive any financial compensation for your involvement in the study, your input will provide valuable insights which will help to develop validated measures of fertility knowledge that can be used in future research and in the evaluation of health promotion programs that aim to improve fertility knowledge.

Can I withdraw from the project?

Participation in this project is completely voluntary. If you agree to participate, you can withdraw from the study at any time until the data analysis phase.

What will happen to my information?

Your responses will be entirely confidential and will not be linked with any identifying information. All data will be stored securely for a period of five years. The resulting fertility knowledge measures form the research for an Honours thesis, the results of which will be written up for publication in a peer-reviewed journal.

Your information will only be used as described in this participant information sheet and it will only be disclosed according to the consent provided, except as required by law.

Who do I contact if I have questions about the project?

Should you wish to ask any further questions about the project, please contact XXXX.

What if I have a complaint or any concerns?

The study has been approved by the School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee at the University of Adelaide (approval number 18/52). This research project will be conducted according to the NHMRC National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007). If you have questions or problems associated with the practical aspects of your participation in the project, or wish to raise a concern or complaint about the project, then you should consult the Principal Investigator. If you wish to speak with an independent person regarding concerns or a complaint, the University's policy on research involving human participants, or your rights as a participant, please contact the Convenor, Human Research Ethics Sub-Committee (School of Psychology) on:

Phone: +61 8 8313 4936

Email: paul.delfabbro@adelaide.edu.au

Any complaint or concern will be treated in confidence and fully investigated. You will be informed of the outcome.

If I want to participate, what do I do?

Please contact XXXX. You will then receive a link to the consent form and the online survey.

Yours sincerely, **XXXX**

Support Resources

• Lifeline (available 24/7, phone: 13 11 14)

Beyond Blue (available 24/7, phone: 1300 224 636)

CONSENT FORM

1. I have read the attached Information Sheet and agree to take part in the following research project:

Title:	Development and validation of a male and female-specific measure of fertility knowledge.
Ethics Approval	

- 2. I have had the project, so far as it affects me, and the potential risks and burdens fully explained to my satisfaction by the research worker. I have had the opportunity to ask any questions I may have about the project and my participation. My consent is given freely.
- 3. Although I understand the purpose of the research project is to improve the quality of health/medical care, it has also been explained that my involvement may not be of any benefit to me.
- 4. I agree to participate in the activities as outlined in the participant information sheet.
- 5. I understand that as my participation is anonymous, I can withdraw any time up until submission of the survey.
- 6. I have been informed that the information gained in the project may be published in a journal article and/or thesis.
- 7. I have been informed that in the published materials I will not be identified and my personal results will not be divulged.
- 8. My information will only be used for the purpose of this research project and it will only be disclosed according to the consent provided, except where disclosure is required by law.
- 9. I am aware that I should keep a copy of this Consent Form, when completed, and the attached Information Sheet.

Appendix I

Pilot study: participant information sheet and consent form

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Project Title: Development and validation of a male-specific and female-specific measure of fertility knowledge

School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee: Principal Investigator: XXXX Student Researcher: XXXX Student's Degree: Bachelor of Psychology (Honours)

Dear Participant, You are invited to participate in the research project described below.

What is the project about?

This project aims to develop and validate one male-specific and one female-specific measure of fertility knowledge that may be used in future research and in the assessment of interventions designed to improve such knowledge.

Who is undertaking the project?

This project is being conducted by XXXX, forming the basis of her Honours degree in Psychology, under the supervision of XXXX.

Why am I being invited to participate?

This research will examine existing fertility knowledge measures and use this as a basis for the development of two new measures, designed to measure male and female-specific fertility knowledge. We seeking are people aged 18 to 52 years, who speak English fluently.

What am I being invited to do?

If you consent to participate, you will be invited to complete an evaluation of the questions proposed to be included in the final measures. You will be asked to provide feedback about each question in terms of its clarity and acceptability. Furthermore, you will be asked if there are any areas of fertility you feel have not been addressed in the survey and should be considered for inclusion and if you feel the measures appear to measure fertility knowledge. Additionally, you will be asked some questions regarding your own reproductive intentions and demographics.

How much time will my involvement in the project take?

The questionnaire is anticipated to take approximately 30 minutes of your time.

Are there any risks associated with participating in this project?

It is not anticipated that you will experience any emotional distress as a result of participating in this study. However, you do have the option not to answer specific questions if you feel uncomfortable in doing so. Contact details for support and helpline numbers are provided at the bottom of this information sheet.

What are the potential benefits of the research project?

This research will help to improve ways to measure fertility knowledge that is specific to both male and female aspects of fertility and is likely to improve the way in which we can accurately quantify fertility knowledge. Although you will not receive any financial compensation for your involvement in the study, your input will provide valuable insights which will help to develop validated measures of fertility knowledge that can be used in future research and in the evaluation of health promotion programs that aim to improve fertility knowledge.

Can I withdraw from the project?

Participation in this project is completely voluntary. If you agree to participate, you can withdraw from the study at any time until the data analysis phase.

What will happen to my information?

Your responses will be entirely confidential and will not be linked with any identifying information. All data will be stored securely for a period of five years. The resulting fertility knowledge measures form the research for an Honours thesis, the results of which will be written up for publication in a peer-reviewed journal. Your information will only be used as described in this participant information sheet and it will only be disclosed according to the consent provided, except as required by law.

Who do I contact if I have questions about the project?

Should you wish to ask any further questions about the project, please contact XXXX.

What if I have a complaint or any concerns?

The study has been approved by the School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee at the University of Adelaide (approval number 18/52). This research project will be conducted according to the NHMRC National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007). If you have questions or problems associated with the practical aspects of your participation in the project, or wish to raise a concern or complaint about the project, then you should consult the Principal Investigator. If you wish to speak with an independent person regarding concerns or a complaint, the University's policy on research involving human participants, or your rights as a participant, please contact the Convenor, Human Research Ethics Sub-Committee (School of Psychology) on:

Phone: +61 8 8313 4936

Email: paul.delfabbro@adelaide.edu.au

Any complaint or concern will be treated in confidence and fully investigated. You will be informed of the outcome.

If I want to participate, what do I do?

On the following webpages, please complete the consent form. After you have given your consent, you will continue to the questionnaire.

Yours sincerely, XXXX

Support Resources

- Lifeline (available 24/7, phone: 13 11 14)
- Beyond Blue (available 24/7, phone: 1300 224 636)

CONSENT FORM

1. I have read the attached Information Sheet and agree to take part in the following research project:

Title:	Development and validation of a male and female-specific measure of fertility knowledge.
Ethics Approval	

- 2. I have had the project, so far as it affects me, and the potential risks and burdens fully explained to my satisfaction by the research worker. I have had the opportunity to ask any questions I may have about the project and my participation. My consent is given freely.
- 3. I have been given the opportunity to have a member of my family or a friend present while the project was explained to me.
- 4. Although I understand the purpose of the research project, it has also been explained that my involvement may not be of any benefit to me.
- 5. I agree to participate in the activities outlined in the participant information sheet.
- 6. I understand that as my participation is anonymous, I can withdraw any time up until submission of the survey/completion of the focus group. I understand that I am free to withdraw from the project at any time and that this will not affect my study at the University, now or in the future.
- 7. I have been informed that the information gained in the project may be published in a journal article and/or thesis.
- 8. I have been informed that in the published materials I will not be identified and my personal results will not be divulged.
- 9. My information will only be used for the purpose of this research project and it will only be disclosed according to the consent provided, except where disclosure is required by law.
- 10. I am aware that I should keep a copy of this Consent Form, when completed, and the attached Information Sheet.
Appendix J

Validation study: participant information sheet and consent form

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Project Title: Development and validation of a male-specific and female-specific measure of fertility knowledge School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee: Principal Investigator: XXXX Student Researcher: XXXX Student's Degree: Bachelor of Psychology (Honours)

Dear Participant, You are invited to participate in the research project described below.

What is the project about?

This project aims to develop and validate one male-specific and one female-specific measure of fertility knowledge that may be used in future research and in the assessment of interventions designed to improve such knowledge.

Who is undertaking the project?

This project is being conducted by XXXX, forming the basis of her Honours degree in Psychology, under the supervision of XXXX.

Why am I being invited to participate?

This research will examine existing fertility knowledge measures and use this as a basis for the development of two new measures, designed to measure male and female-specific fertility knowledge. We seeking are people 18 years and older, who speak English fluently and have not previously participated in the preliminary validation of these measures (i.e., those people who have not previously provided expert medical opinion in an initial evaluation survey of the new measures, or those people who have not attended a group pilot session about these measures in 2018).

What am I being invited to do?

If you consent to participate, you will be invited to complete an online survey that comprises of the male-specific and female-specific fertility knowledge measures. In addition, you will be invited to complete several other measures, which are designed to test for validity and reliability.

How much time will my involvement in the project take?

The survey is anticipated to take approximately 45 minutes of your time.

Are there any risks associated with participating in this project?

It is possible that in disclosing some information about your reproductive intentions, you may experience distress. However, you do have the option not to answer specific questions. Contact details for support and helpline numbers are provided at the bottom of this information sheet.

What are the potential benefits of the research project?

This research will help to improve ways to measure fertility knowledge that is specific to both male

and female aspects of fertility and is likely to improve the way in which we can accurately quantify fertility knowledge. Although you will not receive any financial compensation for your involvement in the study, your input will provide valuable insights which will help to develop validated measures of fertility knowledge that can be used in future research and in the evaluation of health promotion programs that aim to improve fertility knowledge.

Can I withdraw from the project?

Participation in this project is completely voluntary. If you agree to participate, you can withdraw from the study at any time until the data analysis phase.

What will happen to my information?

Your responses will be entirely confidential and will not be linked with any identifying information. All data will be stored securely for a period of five years. The resulting fertility knowledge measures form the research for an Honours thesis, the results of which will be written up for publication in a peer-reviewed journal.

Your non-identifiable responses to one of the measures in the survey, a measure of health literacy, will be provided to the original author of the measure for use in its further validation.

Your information will only be used as described in this participant information sheet and it will only be disclosed according to the consent provided, except as required by law.

Who do I contact if I have questions about the project?

Should you wish to ask any further questions about the project, please contact XXXX.

What if I have a complaint or any concerns?

The study has been approved by the School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee at the University of Adelaide (approval number 18/52). This research project will be conducted according to the NHMRC National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research (2007). If you have questions or problems associated with the practical aspects of your participation in the project, or wish to raise a concern or complaint about the project, then you should consult the Principal Investigator. If you wish to speak with an independent person regarding concerns or a complaint, the University's policy on research involving human participants, or your rights as a participant, please contact the Convenor, Human Research Ethics Sub-Committee (School of Psychology) on:

Phone: +61 8 8313 4936

Email: paul.delfabbro@adelaide.edu.au

Any complaint or concern will be treated in confidence and fully investigated. You will be informed of the outcome.

If I want to participate, what do I do?

Please continue to the following page, where you will be directed to a consent form. After you have given your consent, you will be directed through to the online survey.

Yours sincerely, XXXX

Support Resources

- Lifeline (available 24/7, phone: 13 11 14)
- Beyond Blue (available 24/7, phone: 1300 224 636)

CONSENT FORM

1. I have read the Participant Information and agree to take part in the following research project:

Title:	Development and validation of a male and female-specific measure of fertility knowledge.
Ethics Approval Number:	

- 2. I have had the project, so far as it affects me, and the potential risks and burdens fully explained to my satisfaction by the research worker. I have had the opportunity to ask any questions I may have about the project and my participation. My consent is given freely.
- 3. I have been given the opportunity to have a member of my family or a friend present while the project was explained to me.
- 4. Although I understand the purpose of the research project, it has also been explained that my involvement may not be of any benefit to me.
- 5. I agree to participate in the activities outlined in the participant information sheet.
- 6. I understand that as my participation is anonymous, I can withdraw any time up until submission of the survey/completion of the survey. I understand that I am free to withdraw from the project at any time and that this will not affect my study at the University, now or in the future.
- 7. I have been informed that the information gained in the project may be published in a journal article and/or thesis.
- 8. I have been informed that in the published materials I will not be identified and my personal results will not be divulged.
- 9. I agree to my non-identifiable information (responses to one of the measures included in this survey, Health Literacy) being shared to the original author of the measure for use in its further validation.
 - Yes No

- 10. My information will only be used for the purpose of this research project and it will only be disclosed according to the consent provided, except where disclosure is required by law.
- 11. I am aware that I should keep a copy of this Consent Form, when completed, and the attached Information Sheet.

Appendix K

Submission of online advertisement to the Australian Psychological Society for website promotion

Background to research: involuntary childlessness and infertility remain global public health issues, with affected couples experiencing a cyclical pattern of complicated grief and loss, and feelings of depression, anxiety and disempowerment. However, previous research reveals poor understanding of the age-related fertility decline and risk factors for infertility, resulting in preventable, or at least, modifiable, fertility issues. To date, the measures that are most widely used in the literature to measure people's knowledge about fertility have not been adequately tested for validity and reliability. Furthermore, they fail to measure a broad range of knowledge related to both male and female fertility.

Research focus: to develop two psychometrically sound measures that will allow researchers to design and evaluate the efficacy of targeted educational interventions that aim to minimise the risk of involuntary childlessness due to modifiable factors in male and female populations most likely to delay childbearing.

How can I participate? Males and females aged 18-51 years inclusive are eligible to participate in this survey, anticipated to take approximately 40 minutes. There is no requirement regarding your level of understanding about fertility or infertility treatments.

Appendix L

Table L1

Skewness and kurtosis of the 31-item Male and Female Fertility Knowledge Inventories and

transformation

	Pre-transformation			Post-transformation ^b		
	Skewness	Kurtosis	Shapiro-Wilk ^a	Skewness	Kurtosis	Shapiro-Wilk ^a
MFKI	-0.884	0.663	.949 (.000)	0.254	.026	.988 (.064)
FFKI	-1.033	1.419	.936 (.000)	0.351	0.027	.986 (.022)

Notes. ^a = Statistic (significance); ^b = Reflect and square root transformation performed.



Figure L1. Histogram of 31-item Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory, data not transformed.



Figure L2. Histogram of 31-item Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory, data not transformed.

Appendix M

Final versions of the Male and Female Fertility Knowledge Inventories, answers in bold type

Below are some statements concerning fertility. Please indicate whether you believe they are "true" or "false" by ticking the appropriate box. If you do not know the answer, please tick "I don't know". Table M1

Male Fertility Knowledge Inventory

1. An occlusion (blockage) in the male reproductive system can	True	False	I don't know
affect a man's fertility.			
2. Men do not experience a natural decline in their fertility.		False	I don't know
3. Toxins in the environment (i.e., chemicals, pesticides, heavy		False	I don't know
metals) can affect a man's fertility.			
4. If a man already has one biological child, he will not have	True	False	I don't know
trouble conceiving again.			
5. Use of anabolic steroids once a week can negatively affect a	True	False	I don't know
man's fertility (steroids contain Testosterone and are performance			
enhancing drugs used to increase muscular strength and body			
weight).			
6. A man's weight/BMI (Body Mass Index) can affect his fertility.	True	False	I don't know
7. A man's diet does not affect his fertility.		False	I don't know
8. Chronic consumption of alcohol can affect sperm quality.	True	False	I don't know
9. Smoking cigarettes can affect a man's fertility.		False	I don't know
10. Men continue to produce and mature new sperm every 72		False	I don't know
days.			
11. Intense, sustained exercise can improve a man's sperm quality	True	False	I don't know
(i.e., 4-5 times a week for 2 hours).			
12. Men who have had mumps before puberty may experience	True	False	I don't know
fertility problems if left untreated.			
13. Some lubricants negatively affect sperm.	True	False	I don't know
14. Chromosomal changes can affect the production and	True	False	I don't know
transportation of sperm.			

Table M2

Female Fertility Knowledge Inventory

1. Sexually transmitted infections, including chlamydia,	True	False	I don't know
gonorrhoea and HPV (Human Papillomavirus), can affect a			
woman's fertility.			
2. A history of endometriosis can affect a woman's fertility.	True	False	I don't know
3. A woman's weight/BMI (Body Mass Index) can affect her		False	I don't know
fertility.			
4. A woman's diet does not affect her fertility.	True	False	I don't know
5. Toxins in the environment (i.e., chemicals, pesticides, heavy	True	False	I don't know
metals) can affect a woman's fertility.			
6. Smoking cigarettes can affect a woman's fertility.	True	False	I don't know
7. Moderate, sustained exercise can improve a woman's fertility	True	False	I don't know
(i.e., up to 4 hours of brisk walking a week).			
8. The risk of miscarriage for fit and healthy women is the same,	True	False	I don't know
whether they are in their 30s or their 40s.			
9. A woman in her 40s is equally as likely to become pregnant	True	False	I don't know
through IVF as a woman in her 30s (In Vitro Fertilisation ^a).			
10. More than half of women and their partners conceive on the	True	False	I don't know
first round of IVF (In Vitro Fertilisation ^a).			
11. Women continue to produce new eggs until they reach	True	False	I don't know
menopause.			
12. The primary role of a fertility specialist is to provide IVF (In	True	False	I don't know
Vitro Fertilisation ^a) to a woman.			
13. A woman who has a regular menstrual cycle is fertile.	True	False	I don't know
14. Taking vitamin supplements can increase a woman's ovarian	True	False	I don't know
reserve (the number of eggs available to her, and the number of			
fertile years she has remaining).			
15. Freezing her eggs guarantees a woman will be able to become	True	False	I don't know
pregnant in the future.			

Notes. ^a IVF = In Vitro Fertilisation: a medical procedure where fertilisation of the sperm and egg occurs in a laboratory to create an embryo that is transferred to a woman's uterus a few days later.